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Congressional Testimony 
Statement of Robert S. Mueller, III, Director, FBI  

Before the National Commission on Terrorist Attacks 
upon the United States 

April 14, 2004 

Thank you Chairman Kean, Vice Chair Hamilton and members of the 
Commission for the opportunity to address you this afternoon. You have 
been given an extremely important mission: to help America understand 
what happened on September 11th and to help us learn from that 
experience to improve our ability to prevent future acts of terrorism.  

The FBI recognizes the importance of your work, and my colleagues and I 
have made every effort to be responsive to your requests. I have 
appreciated your critique and feedback on the efforts we are making to 
improve the FBI. I look forward to receiving your recommendations on 
how we can continue to improve. 

Let me take a moment before addressing the specifics of the FBI's reform 
efforts to reflect on the loss we suffered on September 11, 2001. I wish to 
acknowledge the pain and anguish of the friends and families of those we 
lost that day, and I want to assure you that we in the FBI are committed to 
doing everything in our power to ensure that America never suffers such a 
loss again. 

Like so many in this country, the FBI lost colleagues that day. John O'Neill 
was a retired counterterrorism investigator who had just started a new job 
as head of security for the World Trade Center. Lenny Hatton was a 
Special Agent assigned to the New York Field Office. Lenny was driving 
to work when he saw the towers ablaze, rushed to the scene and helped 
to evacuate the buildings. He was last seen helping one person out the 
door and then heading back upstairs to help another.  
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It is the memory of the thousands like John and Lenny who died that day 
that inspires the men and women of the FBI and fuels our resolve to 
defeat terrorism.  

The terrorist threat of today presents complex challenges. Today's 
terrorists operate seamlessly across borders and continents, aided by 
sophisticated communications technologies; they finance their operations 
with elaborate funding schemes; and they patiently and methodically plan 
and prepare their attacks.  

To meet and defeat this threat, the FBI must have several critical 
capabilities:  
First, we must be intelligence-driven. To defeat the terrorists, we must be 
able to develop intelligence about their plans and use that intelligence to 
disrupt those plans.  

We must be global. We must continue our efforts to develop our overseas 
operations, our partnerships with foreign services and our knowledge and 
expertise about foreign cultures and our terrorist adversaries overseas.  
We must have networked information technology systems. We need the 
capacity to manage and share our information effectively. 

Finally, we must remain accountable under the Constitution and the rule 
of law. We must respect civil liberties as we seek to protect the American 
people.  

This is the vision the FBI has been striving towards each day since 
September 11th. It is also the vision that guided Director Freeh and the 
Bureau throughout the last decade. Director Freeh and his colleagues 
took a number of important steps to build a preventive capacity within the 
Bureau. With their complex investigations of various terrorist plots and 
attacks, they developed extensive intelligence and an expertise about 
international terrorism that is the foundation of our efforts today. With their 
doubling of Legal Attache offices around the world, they developed the 
overseas network and relationships that are so critical to the war against 
international terrorism.  

Prior to September 11, 2001, however, various walls existed that 
prevented the realization of that vision. Legal walls -- real and perceived --

 

prevented the integration of intelligence and criminal tools in terrorism 
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investigations. Cultural walls -- real and perceived -- continued to hamper 
coordination between the FBI, the CIA and other members of the 
Intelligence Community. Operational walls -- real and perceived -- 
between the FBI and our partners in state and local law enforcement 
continued to be a challenge. Since the September 11th attacks, we and 
our partners have been breaking down each of these walls.  

The legal walls between intelligence and law enforcement operations that 
handicapped us before 9/11 have been eliminated. The PATRIOT Act, the 
Attorney General's intelligence sharing procedures and the opinion from 
the Foreign Intelligence Surveillance Court of Review tore down the legal 
impediments to coordination and information-sharing between criminal 
investigators and intelligence agents. We can now fully coordinate 
operations within the Bureau and with the Intelligence Community. We 
can also deploy the full range of investigative tools -- both criminal 
processes like search warrants and grand jury subpoenas and 
intelligence authorities like FISA wiretap warrants -- to identify, investigate 
and neutralize terrorist threats. With these changes, we in the Bureau can 
finally take full operational advantage of our dual role as both a law 
enforcement and an intelligence agency. 

We are eliminating the wall that historically stood between us and the 
CIA. The FBI and the CIA started exchanging senior personnel in 1996, 
and we have worked hard to build on that effort. Today, we and the CIA 
are integrated at virtually every level of our operations. From my daily 
meetings with George Tenet and with CIA officials at my twice daily threat 
briefings, to our joint efforts in transnational investigations, to our 
coordinated threat analysis at the Terrorist Threat Integration Center, we 
and the CIA have enhanced our interaction at every level. This integration 
will be further enhanced later this year when our Counterterrorism 
Division co-locates with the CIA's Counter Terrorist Center and the 
Terrorist Threat Integration Center at a new facility in Virginia.  

We have also worked hard to break down the walls that have, at times, 
hampered coordination with our 750,000 partners in state and local law 
enforcement. We have more than doubled the number of Joint Terrorism 
Task Forces (JTTFs) since 9/11. We have processed thousands of 
security clearances to permit law enforcement officers to share freely in 
our investigative information. We have created and refined new 
information sharing systems that electronically link us with our domestic 
partners. And, we have brought on an experienced police chief from North 
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Carolina to serve as our State and Local Law Enforcement Coordinator.  

This coordination has been the hallmark of our operations since 
September 11th. A good example is the case involving the Lackawanna 
terrorist cell in upstate New York. Every one of our partners played a 
significant role in that case -- from the police officers who helped to 
identify, investigate and surveil the cell members, to the diplomatic and 
Intelligence Community personnel who handled the investigations and 
liaison overseas, to the federal agents and prosecutors who conducted 
the grand jury investigation leading to the arrests and indictment.  

Removing these walls has been part of a comprehensive plan to 
strengthen the ability of the FBI to predict and prevent terrorism. We 
developed this plan immediately after the September 11th attacks. With 
the participation and strong support of the Attorney General and the 
Department of Justice, we have been steadily and methodically 
implementing it ever since.  

This plan encompasses many areas of organizational change -- from re-
engineering business practices to overhauling our information technology 
systems. Since you have a detailed description of the plan in the written 
report we submitted on Monday, I will not repeat it here today. If I may, 
however, I would like to take a moment to highlight several of the 
fundamental steps we have taken since 9/11.  

1. Prioritization 
Our first step was to establish the priorities to meet our post-9/11 mission. 
Starting that morning, protecting the United States from another terrorist 
attack became our overriding priority. We formalized that with a new set 
of priorities that direct the actions of every FBI program and office. Every 
FBI manager understands that he or she must devote whatever resources 
are necessary to address the terrorism priority, and that no terrorism lead 
can go unaddressed.  

2. Mobilization 
The next step was to mobilize our resources to implement these new 
priorities. Starting soon after the attacks, we shifted substantial manpower 
and resources to the counterterrorism mission. We also established a 
number of operational units that give us new or improved counterterrorism 
capabilities -- such as the 24/7 Counterterrorism Watch Center, the 
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Document Exploitation Unit, and the new Terrorism Financing Operation 
Section.  

3. Centralization 
We then centralized coordination of our counterterrorism program. Unlike 
before, when investigations were managed primarily by individual field 
offices, the Counterterrorism Division at Headquarters now has the 
authority and the responsibility to direct and coordinate counterterrorism 
investigations throughout the country. This fundamental change has 
improved our ability to coordinate our operations here and abroad, and it 
has clearly established accountability at Headquarters for the 
development and success of our Counterterrorism Program.  

4. Coordination 
As I noted earlier, another critical element of our plan since September 
11th has been the increased coordination with our law enforcement and 
intelligence partners. We understand that we cannot defeat terrorism 
alone, and we are working hard to enhance coordination and information 
sharing with all of our partners, including the Department of Homeland 
Security which plays a central role in the protection of our nation's borders 
and infrastructure. This coordination is critical to every area of our 
operations.  

As you pointed out in your second staff statement, this coordination is 
particularly critical when we face a transnational threat from Al Qaeda or 
another terrorist group that operates internationally. In that situation, we 
need to be completely aligned with the CIA, with foreign services, and 
with other agencies that have operations or information relating to that 
transnational threat.  

We have learned much about how we and other agencies coordinated the 
investigation of Khalid al Mihdhar and Nawaf al Hazmi in 2000 and 2001. 
As your staff statement explained, our efforts to investigate and locate al 
Mihdhar and al Hazmi were complicated because some felt that they 
could not coordinate or share certain information with others.  

Because of our improved coordination since 9/11, I believe that that 
investigation would proceed differently if it were to occur today.   

• Because we coordinate much more closely and regularly with the CIA 
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and NSA, we would likely be aware of -- and involved in -- the search for 
the two men much earlier in the process.  
• Because the legal wall between intelligence and law enforcement 
operations has been eliminated, FBI and CIA personnel would be able to 
share all information about these two men and their possible travel to the 
United States. 
• Because the CIA now briefs me and my top executives each morning 
and CIA and DHS officials attend my twice-daily threat briefings, 
information about the threat posed by these two men could quickly reach -
- and get the attention of -- the highest levels of the FBI, and the 
government.  

5. Intelligence Integration 
The last crucial element of our transformation has been to develop our 
strategic analytic capacity, while at the same time integrating intelligence 
processes into all of our investigative operations. We needed to 
dramatically expand our ability to convert our investigative information into 
strategic intelligence that could guide our operations. Initially we 
concentrated our efforts on the 9/11 investigation and the 
Counterterrorism Division. We then developed step-by-step from there.   

Our first step was to deploy 25 CIA analyst detailees to the 
Counterterrorism Division, along with dozens of FBI analysts from other 
divisions, to improve our ability to analyze the masses of data generated 
in our post-9/11 investigations. We then established a formal analyst 
training program and started to develop the permanent analyst position 
and career track within the Counterterrorism Division.  

The next step of this effort was to establish an official Intelligence 
program to manage the intelligence process throughout the Bureau. To 
oversee this effort, I appointed Maureen Baginski -- a 25-year analyst and 
executive from the NSA -- to serve as the Bureau's first Executive 
Assistant Director for Intelligence. Thanks to the efforts of Maureen and 
her colleagues in the Office of Intelligence, we have made substantial 
progress since her appointment last May. 

• We have developed and are in the process of executing Concepts of 
Operations governing all aspects of the intelligence process -- from the 
identification of intelligence requirements to the methodology for 
intelligence assessment to the drafting and formatting of intelligence 
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products. 
• We have established a Requirements and Collection Management Unit 
to identify intelligence gaps and develop collection strategies to fill those 
gaps. 
• We have established Field Intelligence Groups in the field offices, whose 
members review investigative information -- not only for use in 
investigations in that field office -- but to disseminate it throughout the 
Bureau and ultimately to our law enforcement and Intelligence Community 
partners.  
• We are accelerating the hiring and training of analytical personnel, and 
developing career paths for analysts that are commensurate with their 
importance to the mission of the FBI.   

With these changes in place, the Intelligence Program is established and 
growing. We are now turning to the last structural step in our effort to build 
an intelligence capacity. Just last month, I authorized new procedures 
governing the recruitment, training, career paths and evaluation of our 
Special Agents -- all of which are focused on developing intelligence 
expertise among our agent population.  

The most far-reaching of these changes will be the new agent career 
path, which will guarantee that agents get experience in intelligence 
investigations and with intelligence processes. Under this plan, new 
agents will spend an initial period familiarizing themselves with all aspects 
of the Bureau, including intelligence collection and analysis, and then go 
on to specialize in counterterrorism, intelligence or another operational 
program. A central part of this initiative will be an Intelligence Officer 
Certification program that will be available to both analysts and agents. 
That program will be modeled after -- and have the same training and 
experience requirements as -- the existing programs in the Intelligence 
Community.  

Conclusion 

Those are some of the highlights of our plan for organizational reform. To 
get a sense for the pace and number of changes since 9/11, I would refer 
you to the time-line chart displayed on the easel. This time-line plots out 
almost 50 significant new counterterrorism-related capabilities or 
components we have established over the past 31 months. From the 
founding of the Counterterrorism Watch Center on 9/11 to the directive 
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establishing the intelligence career track last month, this time line shows a 
steady pace of change and innovation.  

Many have asked whether all these changes have succeeded in turning 
us into the agency we need to be. These are valid questions.  

To the question of whether the FBI now has a fully-matured intelligence 
apparatus in place, the answer is that we have laid the structural 
foundation, and are developing the intelligence personnel and the 
capacities at a steady pace. 

To the question of whether the FBI and its partners now enjoy seamless 
coordination, the answer is that we are communicating and integrating our 
operations like never before.  

To the question of whether the FBI is making progress, the answer is that 
we clearly are. While we still have much work to do, the Bureau is moving 
steadily in the right direction.  

Our efforts over the past 31 months have produced meaningful and 
measurable results. Working with our partners here and abroad, we have 
disrupted and detained supporters of Al Qaeda from Lackawanna, New 
York, to Portland, Oregon; we have participated in the detention of much 
of Al Qaeda's leadership; and we have seized millions of dollars in 
terrorist financing.  

We have also seen measurable accomplishments within the FBI. While it 
is always difficult to quantify the extent of organizational change, it is 
worth spending a minute with the next chart on the easel. Here, we have 
plotted a number of measures that reflect, in one way or another, our 
evolution into a prevention-based intelligence agency. As you see, it is a 
series of bar graphs showing numerical comparisons between September 
11, 2001 and now. Starting on the left, you can see how we have 
increased the numbers of agents, analysts and translators assigned to 
counterterrorism, as well as the total personnel assigned to the 84 Joint 
Terrorism Task Forces around the country. We have increased the 
number of counterterrorism agents from 1344 to 2835; counterterrorism 
analysts from 218 to 406; linguists from 555 to 1204; and JTTF personnel 
from 912 to 4249. The first two charts on the bottom line show the 
increase in the number of intelligence bulletins and reports issued since 
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9/11. We have gone from no intelligence bulletins in 2001 to 115 since 
9/11; and from no intelligence reports to 2648. Finally, the last two charts 
show an increase of 85% in the number of Foreign Intelligence 
Surveillance Act warrants we have obtained and an increase of 91% in 
the number of counterterrorism sources we have developed -- both 
important measures of our increasing focus on developing intelligence 
against our terrorist adversaries.  

Each of these increased measures reflects hard work and dedication on 
the part of the men and women of the FBI. They have embraced and 
implemented these counterterrorism and intelligence reforms, while 
continuing to shoulder the responsibility to protect America. And, they 
have carried out the pressing mandate to prevent further terrorism, while 
continuing to work in strict fidelity to the Constitution and the rule of law.  

The men and women of the FBI have served admirably because they 
believe it is their duty to protect the citizens of the United States, to 
secure freedom, and to preserve justice for all Americans. I want to take 
this opportunity to thank them and their families for their sacrifices and for 
their service to America. 

I look forward to continuing our cooperation with the Commission, and to 
reviewing the findings in your final report.  

I would be happy to answer any questions you might have. 
Accessibility | eRulemaking | Freedom of Information Act/Privacy | Legal Notices | Legal Policies and Disclaimers | Links  

Privacy Policy | USA.gov | White House 
FBI.gov is an official site of the U.S. Federal Government, U.S. Department of Justice.  
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(1) 

JUSTICE DEPARTMENT’S 
OFFICE OF LEGAL COUNSEL 

THURSDAY, FEBRUARY 14, 2008 

HOUSE OF REPRESENTATIVES,
SUBCOMMITTEE ON THE CONSTITUTION,

CIVIL RIGHTS, AND CIVIL LIBERTIES, 
COMMITTEE ON THE JUDICIARY, 

Washington, DC. 
The Subcommittee met, pursuant to notice, at 12:07 p.m., in 

room 2141, Rayburn House Office Building, the Honorable Jerrold 
Nadler (Chairman of the Subcommittee) presiding. 

Present: Representatives Nadler, Davis, Ellison, Scott, Watt, 
Franks, and King. 

Staff Present: David Lachmann, Subcommittee Chief of Staff; 
Burt Wides, Majority Counsel; Heather Sawyer, Majority Counsel; 
Sam Sokol, Majority Counsel; Caroline Mays, Majority Professional 
Staff Member; Paul Taylor, Minority Counsel; Crystal Jezierski, 
Minority Counsel; and Jennifer Burba, Minority Staff Assistant. 

Mr. NADLER. This hearing of the Subcommittee on the Constitu-
tion, Civil Rights, and Civil Liberties will come to order. 

Today’s hearing will examine the work of the Office of Legal 
Counsel of the Department of Justice with respect to its involve-
ment in the legal review of Administration policies relating to de-
tention and interrogation. 

The Chair recognizes himself for 5 minutes for an opening state-
ment. 

Today we consider a matter that goes to the heart of who we are 
as a Nation. No one will argue that we live in a dangerous world, 
that there are people who are organizing to attack our Nation, or 
that our Government must gather reliable intelligence to defend us. 
All that is obvious. What is at issue is the lengths to which some 
people acting on our behalf have gone, and what the Office of Legal 
Counsel has advised our Government what it may and may not le-
gally do. 

The job of OLC is of critical importance to the rule of law in this 
country. As Newsweek described it, the OLC, ‘is the most impor-
tant Government office you’ve never heard of.’’ 

Within the executive branch, including the Pentagon and CIA, 
the OLC acts as a kind of mini-Supreme Court. Its carefully word-
ed opinions are regarded as binding precedent, final say on what 
the President and all his agencies can and cannot legally do. So 
when it comes to the question of the treatment, the use of 
waterboarding and other extreme forms of coercion for interroga-
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tion of people detained by the United States, OLC is really the 
place to start. 

Our witness today, Steven Bradbury, is the Principal Deputy As-
sistant Attorney General for OLC. He serves in that position, be-
cause his nomination as Assistant Attorney General has not yet 
been confirmed by the Senate. 

OLC and Mr. Bradbury have been in the middle of the con-
troversy regarding the treatment of detainees. The now infamous 
Bybee Torture Memo was produced by Mr. Bybee’s deputy, John 
Yoo. Its publication coming on top of the exposé of prisoner abuse 
at Abu Ghraib, devastated America’s standing around the world. It 
also led numerous prominent military lawyers to fear it would per-
mit hostile forces to brutalize our soldiers and deny that what they 
were doing was torture. 

That OLC product was so flawed and so at odds with our law 
and our values that a subsequent head of OLC, Jack Goldsmith, re-
scinded it. More recently, the OLC’s role in developing interroga-
tion policy has again been in the spotlight. According to the New 
York Times, Mr. Bradbury wrote two secret but controversial opin-
ions in 2005. Mr. Bradbury, as the acting head of OLC, reportedly 
issued an opinion authorizing the use, in combination, of certain 
harsh interrogation techniques, including head-slapping, simulated 
drowning, and exposure to frigid temperatures. 

While its details remain unknown, that is to say secret, Deputy 
Attorney General Comey has been reported to have objected to it 
so vigorously that he told colleagues they would all be ashamed 
when the world learned of it. 

More recently, several developments have focused the attention 
of this Subcommittee and of the Nation on the chilling practice of 
waterboarding. My own view of waterboarding is clear. It is tor-
ture, period; and as such, violates several of our laws. 
Waterboarding is often misnamed ‘‘simulated drowning.’’ In fact, as 
was testified to by witnesses at a couple of prior hearings of this 
Subcommittee, it is actual drowning, with all the excruciating 
agony that entails, which is stopped short of death. That is why 
what is now euphemistically called ‘‘waterboarding’’ has for cen-
turies been more bluntly known as the water torture, from the In-
quisition to the U.S. prosecution in the last century of both enemy 
captors and Americans alike for practicing waterboarding. This has 
been the long-held view of our Nation, our legal system and of our 
military. 

Senator McCain, who is something of an expert on the subject, 
has been unsparing in his criticism of these practices. I have held 
several hearings where experts in interrogation have testified not 
only to the cruelty, but to the ineffectiveness of this practice. 

Waterboarding is also prohibited by the Army Field Manual on 
Interrogation. Just yesterday, the Senate passed a bill that would 
extend the Army Field Manual guidance, which outlaws 
waterboarding to the entire Intelligence Community incorporating 
a bill which I had introduced initially with Mr. Delahunt. As a civ-
ilized Nation there must be limits in our conduct, even during mili-
tary conflicts. And our laws so dictate. President Bush has long 
said that America does not torture. I urge him to sign this legisla-
tion into law and thus affirm that commitment. 
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The fact that this Administration tortures, despite its testimony 
that it doesn’t, is no longer a closely held secret. Recently, CIA Di-
rector Hayden disclosed the three individuals who were subjected 
to waterboarding. He also disclosed that at least two videotapes of 
those sessions had been destroyed after several years of discussion 
among the CIA, Justice Department, and the White House. 

In addition to reportedly drafting several controversial memo-
randa on interrogation, Mr. Bradbury also has been a point man 
for the Bush administration, repeatedly explaining and defending 
its programs and legal positions before congressional Committees 
and participating in White House question-and-answer sessions 
with the press and the public. 

Opinions issued by OLC have offered the legal support for a 
number of the Administration’s more controversial programs and 
actions, whose legality under statutes of the Constitution is strong-
ly questioned by many scholars. In addition, Mr. Bradbury has 
been a frequent advocate for and defender of Administration poli-
cies before the Congress and press and the public. This raises the 
questions about the state of OLC today. 

Some observers, including former OLC officials who served in 
Administrations of both political parties, have questioned whether 
OLC in this Administration has operated with sufficient independ-
ence to present objective analysis of the controlling law, or has too 
readily created weak arguments to support what the President 
wants to do in regard to terrorism or other areas. I hope we can 
get to this important issue. 

I want to welcome our witness, I yield back the balance of my 
time. 

I would now recognize our distinguished Ranking minority Mem-
ber, the gentleman from Arizona, Mr. Franks, for his opening state-
ment. 

Mr. FRANKS. Well, thank you, Mr. Chairman. 
Mr. Chairman, we are here today because of an article about in-

terrogation techniques that appeared in the New York Times. The 
article describes a memo that allows what the headline character-
izes as ‘‘Severe Interrogations,’’ as described by a few anonymous 
sources who are only briefed on the memo and who have appar-
ently not actually seen it. The Times article concedes that the tac-
tics it characterizes as ‘‘severe interrogations’’ simply include ‘‘in-
terrogation methods long used in training for our own American 
servicemen to withstand capture.’’ 

Severe interrogations are unpleasant, to be very sure, but, Mr. 
Chairman, they are sometimes necessary to prevent severe con-
sequences that potentially involve the violent deaths of thousands 
of innocent American citizens. Severe interrogations are very infre-
quent. CIA Director Michael Hayden has confirmed that despite 
the incessant hysteria, the waterboarding technique has only been 
used on three high-level captured terrorists, the very worst of the 
worst of our terrorist enemies. 

Director Hayden suspended the practice of waterboarding by CIA 
agents in 2006. Before the suspension, Director Hayden confirmed 
that his agency waterboarded Khalid Sheikh Mohammed, Abu 
Zubayda, and Abd al-Rahim Nashiri, each for approximately 1 
minute. The results were of immeasurable benefit to the American 
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people. CIA Director Hayden has said that Mohammed and 
Zubayda provided approximately 25 percent of the information the 
CIA had on al-Qaeda from human sources. That’s 25 percent of the 
total information in human intelligence that we have received on 
al-Qaeda, derived from 3 minutes’ worth of rarely used interroga-
tion tactics. 

Curtailing this program would drastically reduce our ability to 
protect against horrific terrorist attacks. Even the New York Times 
article points out that such techniques have ‘‘helped our country 
disrupt terrorist plots and save innocent lives.’’ 

Torture, Mr. Chairman, by contrast is illegal, as it should be. 
Torture is banned by the Uniform Code of Military Justice in 19 
U.S.C. 893 and the 2005 McCain amendment prohibiting the cruel, 
inhuman, or degrading treatment of anyone in U.S. custody, as un-
derstood in the 5th, 8th and 14th amendments. 

According to the New York Times, the Department of Justice 
issued a legal opinion that ‘‘The standards imposed by Mr. 
McCain’s Detainee Treatment Act would not force any change in 
the CIA’s practices. Relying on a Supreme Court finding that only 
conduct that shocks the conscience was unconstitutional. The opin-
ion found that in some circumstances, waterboarding was not cruel, 
inhuman or degrading if, for example, a suspect was believed to 
possess crucial intelligence about a planned terrorist attack, the of-
ficials familiar with the legal finding said.’’ 

Now, we do not know whether or not the confidential Depart-
ment of Justice legal opinion actually used the example of 
waterboarding. But the general principle expressed by the Depart-
ment of Justice, echoed by the Supreme Court’s finding that cir-
cumstances inform our analysis of whether or not a tactic is cruel, 
inhuman or degrading, and whether a tactic constitutionally shocks 
the conscience. 

The nonpartisan Congressional Research Service confirms that 
this analysis, ‘‘The types of acts that fall within cruel, inhuman or 
degrading treatment or punishment contained in the McCain 
amendment, may change over time, and may not always be clear. 
Courts have recognized that circumstances often determine wheth-
er conduct shocks the conscience and violates a person’s due proc-
ess rights.’’ 

Even ultra-liberal Harvard law professor Alan Dershowitz agrees 
as he wrote this recently in The Wall Street Journal. ‘‘Mukasey is 
absolutely correct,’’ he says, ‘‘as a matter of constitutional law, that 
the issue of waterboarding cannot be decided in the abstract. The 
Court must examine the nature of the governmental interest at 
stake and then decide on a case-by-case basis. In several cases in-
volving the actions at least as severe as waterboarding, courts have 
found no violations of due process.’’ 

As the Wall Street Journal pointed out in the recent editorial, 
Congress wants the Justice memos made public, but the reason to 
keep them secret is so that enemy combatants cannot use them as 
a resistance manual. If they know what is coming, they can psycho-
logically prepare for it. We know al-Qaeda training involves its own 
forms of resistance training, and publicly describing the rules offers 
our enemies a road map for resistance. 
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Mr. Chairman, as I said in the last hearing, I believe those who 
would challenge aspects of the current practices and procedures 
governing the interrogation of terrorists have an absolute obliga-
tion to state explicitly what sorts of interrogation techniques they 
do find acceptable. Criticism without solution is useless and rep-
resents the opposite of leadership. 

And I look forward to hearing from our witnesses, Mr. Chairman, 
and yield back. 

Mr. NADLER. I thank the gentleman. I would comment that some 
of us have done precisely that. We have suggested that the prac-
tices that are permissible are those in the U.S. Army Field Manual. 

In the interest of proceeding to our witness, and mindful of our 
busy schedules, I would ask that other Members submit their 
statements for the record. 

Without objection, all Members will have 5 legislative days to 
submit opening statements for inclusion in the record. 

Without objection, the Chair will be authorized to declare recess 
of the hearing. 

As we ask questions of our witness, the Chair will recognize 
Members in the order of their seniority in the Subcommittee, alter-
nating between majority and minority, provided that the Member 
is present when his or her turn arrives. Members who are not 
present when their turn begins will be recognized after the other 
Members have an opportunity to ask their questions. The Chair re-
serves the right to accommodate a Member who is unavoidably late 
or only able to be with us for a short time. 

Our witness today, Steven G. Bradbury, who currently serves as 
the Principal Deputy Assistant Attorney General for the Office of 
Legal Counsel. The Office of Legal Counsel assists the Attorney 
General in his function as legal advisor to the President and all the 
executive branch agencies. 

Before we begin, it is customary for the Committee to swear in 
its witnesses. If you would please stand and raise your right hand 
to take the oath. 

[Witness sworn.] 
Mr. NADLER. Let the record reflect the witness answered in the 

affirmative. You may be seated. 
Mr. Bradbury, you are recognized for your statement. 

TESTIMONY OF STEVEN G. BRADBURY, PRINCIPAL DEPUTY 
ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL, OFFICE OF LEGAL COUN-
SEL, U.S. DEPARTMENT OF JUSTICE 

Mr. BRADBURY. Thank you, Mr. Chairman, Chairman Nadler, 
Ranking Member Franks and Members of the Committee. 

Let me first extend my condolences to this body and to the family 
of Congressman Lantos for the loss of a great American and a 
great Member of this House. 

Mr. Chairman, I appreciate the opportunity to appear before you 
today to address the CIA’s program of detention and interrogation 
of high-value terrorists. 

As this Committee knows, the Office of Legal Counsel exercises 
the authority of the Attorney General to render legal opinions for 
the executive branch. I’ve been privileged to serve as the Principal 
Deputy in OLC since April 2004, and I can assure the Committee 
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that every opinion I sign for the Office represents my best objective 
judgment as to what the law requires, without regard for the polit-
ical currents that often swirl around the questions presented to us. 

The CIA program was initiated not long after 9/11, when our 
knowledge of al-Qaeda was more limited and when the possibility 
of a follow-on attack was thought to be eminent. The program has 
always been very narrow in scope, reserved for a small number of 
hard-core al-Qaeda members believed to possess uniquely valuable 
intelligence. 

Fewer than 100 terrorists have been detained by the CIA as part 
of this program. The President and CIA Director Hayden have said 
that the program has been a critical source of intelligence to help 
prevent further mass terrorist attacks on the U.S. This program 
has involved the limited use of alternative interrogation methods 
judged to be necessary in certain cases because hardened al-Qaeda 
operatives are trained to resist the types of methods approved in 
the Army Field Manual which governs military interrogations. The 
CIA’s interrogation methods were developed for use by highly 
trained professionals, subject to careful authorizations, conditions, 
limitations and safeguards. They have been reviewed on several oc-
casions by the Justice Department over the past 5-plus years and 
determined on each occasion to be lawful under then-applicable 
law. 

These alternative interrogation methods have been used with 
fewer than one-third of the terrorists who have ever been detained 
in the program. Certain of the methods have been used on far 
fewer still. In particular, as General Hayden has now disclosed, the 
procedure known as waterboarding was used on only three individ-
uals and was never used after March 2003. 

While there is much we cannot say publicly about the CIA pro-
gram, the program has been the subject of oversight by the Intel-
ligence Committees of both Houses of Congress, and the classified 
details of the program have been briefed to Members of those Com-
mittees and other leaders in Congress. 

In 2002 when the CIA was establishing the program and first 
sought the legal advice of the Justice Department, the relevant 
Federal law applicable to the CIA program was the Federal anti- 
torture statute which prohibits acts intended to inflict severe phys-
ical or mental pain or suffering, as defined in the statute. 

The Justice Department set forth its interpretation of the anti- 
torture statute in OLC’s public December 2004 opinion where we 
affirm that torture is abhorrent to American values. All advice we 
have given since has been consistent with the December 2004 opin-
ion. 

Since 2005, additional laws have become applicable to the pro-
gram. Congress passed the Detainee Treatment Act in December 
2005 and the Military Commissions Act in October 2006. And in 
June 2006, the Supreme Court held for the first time, in Hamdan 
v. Rumsfeld, that Common Article 3 of the Geneva Conventions ap-
plies to our worldwide armed conflict with al-Qaeda. 

The CIA program is now operated in accordance with the Presi-
dent’s executive order of July 20, 2007, which was issued pursuant 
to the Military Commissions Act. The President’s executive order 
requires that the CIA program comply with a host of substantive 
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and procedural requirements. The executive order reaffirms that 
the program must be operated in conformity with all applicable 
statutory standards, including the Federal prohibition on torture, 
Detainee Treatment Act, and the prohibitions on grave breaches of 
Common Article 3, which were added to the War Crimes Act by the 
2006 Military Commissions Act. 

In addition, the executive order requires that all detainees in the 
program must be afforded adequate food and shelter and essential 
medical care. They must be protected from extremes in tempera-
ture and their treatment must be free of religious denigration or 
acts of humiliating personal abuse that rise to the level of an out-
rage upon personal dignity. 

The Director of the CIA must have procedures in place to ensure 
compliance with the executive order, and he must personally ap-
prove each individual plan of interrogation. After enactment of the 
Detainee Treatment Act, the CIA commenced a comprehensive pol-
icy and operational review of the program, which eventually re-
sulted in a narrower set of proposed interrogation methods. 

As the Attorney General disclosed, the program as it is author-
ized today does not include waterboarding. And let me be clear, Mr. 
Chairman. There has been no determination by the Justice Depart-
ment that the use of waterboarding under any circumstances would 
be lawful under current law. Many of the legal questions raised by 
the CIA program are difficult ones and ones over which reasonable 
minds may differ. But the dedicated professionals at the CIA are 
working with honor to protect the country in accordance with the 
law. 

Mr. Chairman, while differences between Congress and the De-
partment in these turbulent times are inevitable and are consistent 
with the institutional tension embedded in our Constitution, it is 
important to remember that I, like Members of this Committee, 
have sworn an oath to protect and defend the Constitution of the 
United States. Each of the opinions I have rendered at the Office 
of Legal Counsel has been true to this oath. While difficult ques-
tions arise, every opinion I have issued has been consistent with 
my professional obligations as an attorney and with my obligation 
to protect and defend the Constitution. 

Thank you Mr. Chairman. 
Mr. NADLER. I thank you, Mr. Bradbury. 
[The prepared statement of Mr. Bradbury follows:] 
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PREPARED STATEMENT OF STEVEN G. BRADBURY 
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Mr. NADLER. I will begin by recognizing myself for 5 minutes to 
question the witness. 

Mr. Bradbury, I understand that for many of the CIA’s enhanced 
interrogation techniques, the test of their legality under current 
law is linked to the constitutional standards of whether it shocks 
the conscience, and that this may depend on the circumstances. 
But under the convention against torture and the implementing 
Federal torture statute, torture is absolutely barred; and that does 
not depend on the circumstances and that does not depend on 
whether it shocks the conscience. 

So let’s put that aside and cut to the chase. The convention and 
the Federal torture statute defined torture to be ‘‘an act specifically 
designed to inflict severe physical or mental pain or suffering.’’ I 
fail to see how the agonizing pain of not being able to breathe as 
your lungs fill with water and oxygen is denied your body cannot 
be considered severe physical pain. And I fail to see how feeling 
that you are drowning and about to die cannot be considered severe 
mental pain and suffering. 

It is certainly specifically designed—waterboarding, that is—to 
inflict both severe mental and physical pain and suffering so that 
the prisoner will speak. 

Now, in your legal opinion, is waterboarding a violation of the 
Federal torture statute? 

Mr. BRADBURY. Well, Mr. Chairman, as General Hayden has dis-
closed, our office has advised—— 

Mr. NADLER. I’m not interested in your opinions before. Never 
mind former OLC opinions. I’m asking you the question now: Is 
waterboarding a violation of the Federal torture statute? 

Mr. BRADBURY. I was about to answer the question, Mr. Chair-
man, this way. Our office has advised the CIA, when they were 
proposing to use waterboarding, that the use of the procedure, sub-
ject to strict limitations and safeguards applicable to the program, 
was not torture and did not violate the anti-torture statute. And I 
think that conclusion was reasonable. I agree with that conclusion. 

Mr. NADLER. Given the definition I just read, how can you pos-
sibly justify that? 

Mr. BRADBURY. Well, first of all, I’m limited in what I can say 
about the technique itself, because—— 

Mr. NADLER. We know what the technique is. It has been done 
for hundreds of years. 

Mr. BRADBURY. Well, with respect, Mr. Chairman, your descrip-
tion is not an accurate description of the procedure that’s used by 
the CIA, and I think there’s—— 

Mr. NADLER. My description was a description that was given to 
this Committee by ex-interrogation officers. 

Mr. BRADBURY. Well, there’s been a lot of discussion in the public 
about historical examples. For example, as the Chairman ref-
erenced, from the Spanish Inquisition; cases of torture from the 
Philippines and committed by the Japanese during World War II. 
Those cases of water torture have involved the forced consumption 
of mass amounts of water and often large amounts of water in the 
lungs. They have often involved the imposition of weight or pres-
sure—— 
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Mr. NADLER. But your testimony is that that’s not what we’re 
talking about now. 

Mr. BRADBURY. That is not what we are talking about. 
Mr. NADLER. Well, then let me go to the following. You have re-

fused—according to the New York Times, you wrote several memos 
on interrogation techniques in 2005. The Times said that the opin-
ion about using a whole bunch of very intense techniques on the 
prisoner, in combination, including waterboarding, so outraged 
Deputy Attorney General Comey that he told colleagues they would 
be ashamed if it ever came out. 

Now, that has peaked our curiosity. But the Attorney General 
said he could not give us those memos and others we have repeat-
edly asked for on this subject because they were very sensitive. 
When the Chairman of this Committee, Mr. Conyers, reminded him 
that we all have Top Secret clearance, the Attorney General simply 
repeated that he was unable to share them with us. 

Now we have been shown documents on the NSA warrant list 
wiretapping that are Code Word, which I’m sure is a higher classi-
fication than your legal opinion of interrogation. So can you tell us 
why you won’t—I mean, you’re telling us that the opinions we’re 
making about waterboarding are wrong because we don’t know 
what waterboarding really is. Therefore we can’t form a judgment, 
you’re telling us, on the legal basis; or on whether it is legal be-
cause we don’t know what—literally, we don’t know about what 
we’re talking because you won’t tell us. 

So can you tell us precisely what the legal authority is for with-
holding those documents from the Committee of proper subject 
matter jurisdiction other than the fact that they might be embar-
rassing to somebody? 

Mr. BRADBURY. Well, Mr. Chairman, let me say I and the De-
partment of Justice and the Attorney General fully recognize and 
respect the strong oversight interest this Committee has in the 
work of our office—— 

Mr. NADLER. We’ve seen no evidence of that. 
Mr. BRADBURY. Well, let me say that we do intend and we strive 

to respond to—— 
Mr. NADLER. Let’s break through all this. Will you commit to let-

ting us see those memos? And, if not, why not? 
Mr. BRADBURY. We will—we are giving that serious consider-

ation, Mr. Chairman. We are giving that serious consideration. 
Mr. NADLER. Is there any legal basis for saying ‘‘no’’ to a com-

mittee of jurisdiction which falls squarely within our jurisdiction 
and where we all have clearance—security clearance? 

Mr. BRADBURY. Well, these are matters that traditionally are 
subject to the extensive oversight of the Intelligence Committees. 

Mr. NADLER. And the Judiciary Committee. 
Mr. BRADBURY. And the classified details of the program are very 

close hold—— 
Mr. NADLER. Excuse me. I said we all had top security clear-

ances. So given that fact, is there any legal justification for with-
holding those documents? 

Mr. BRADBURY. Well, Mr. Chairman, as you and I have discussed 
these—this very question before, the interest is—the interest that 
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the President and the executive branch have in protecting the po-
tential public disclosure of—— 

Mr. NADLER. Wait, that’s saying ‘‘secret’’. We all have top secu-
rity clearance, so all you’re saying is that it might be revealed. We 
have top security clearance. 

Mr. BRADBURY. Well, I think there was some discussion pre-
viously, perhaps mentioned earlier in the opening statements, 
about public disclosure. That—— 

Mr. NADLER. We’re not talking right now about public disclosure, 
we’re talking about disclosure to this Committee. 

Mr. BRADBURY. I understand that. And my point today is we rec-
ognize your interest, we recognize the unique nature of this issue, 
the controversial nature of the issue. We do recognize the extraor-
dinary—— 

Mr. NADLER. But what is—you keep not answering my question. 
What is the legal basis for your assertion of your ability to have 
discretion about whether to give those documents to us? 

Mr. BRADBURY. Mr. Chairman, I’m not asserting any legal basis. 
Mr. NADLER. If there is no legal basis, then you must give them 

to us. 
Mr. BRADBURY. It’s not a decision for me, but I am saying—I am 

saying that the Attorney General, in close consultation with the 
President, are giving careful consideration—— 

Mr. NADLER. Are you the head of the Office of Legal Counsel? 
Mr. BRADBURY. Yes. 
Mr. NADLER. Isn’t it your job as such to give the opinion to the 

Attorney General on these kinds of questions? 
Mr. BRADBURY. We do most often, yes, advise the Attorney Gen-

eral and the President on matters that potentially involve execu-
tive privilege issues. 

Mr. NADLER. So have you advised the Attorney General that they 
have the legal right to withhold these documents from this Com-
mittee? 

Mr. BRADBURY. I don’t—— 
Mr. NADLER. Or that they don’t have the legal right? 
Mr. BRADBURY. Mr. Chairman, the executive branch does have 

the legal right to protect the confidentiality of deliberations of the 
executive branch and sensitive documents—— 

Mr. NADLER. The executive branch, you’re saying, has the unlim-
ited right, in its own discretion, to withhold any document because 
of confidentiality? 

Mr. BRADBURY. I’m absolutely not saying that. The Congress has 
a very strong constitutionally based interest in getting information 
necessary for oversight—— 

Mr. NADLER. Thank you very much. 
Mr. BRADBURY. We recognize those interests. 
Mr. NADLER. But you won’t commit to giving us those documents 

despite the fact that we have security clearance, so your recogni-
tion is totally hollow. 

Mr. BRADBURY. I will commit to attempting fully to satisfy the 
Committee’s interest in these matters, to the fullest extent pos-
sible, consistent with legitimate interests that the executive branch 
has. And let me just underscore, we are—— 
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Mr. NADLER. Okay. Let me just say, then, that within a few days 
after this Committee, we’d like an explanation in writing. Either— 
we’d either like to see those documents or an explanation in writ-
ing in why we can’t see them, and what the legal basis of your 
right to withhold them is. 

Mr. BRADBURY. Okay. 
Mr. NADLER. Thank you. 
I now recognize the distinguished Ranking Minority Member for 

5 minutes. 
Mr. FRANKS. Well, thank you, Mr. Chairman. 
Let me just first offer a little illustration that I hope gives some 

idea as to why some of us separate waterboarding from torture, 
and why we do believe that circumstances in certain situations do 
change whether or not something shocks the conscience—and by 
way of just an illustration I hope that is relevant to most people. 

If a neighbor is invited over for dinner and insults the hostess 
on the dessert, and the husband of the home takes a baseball bat 
and beats his skull in for such an insult, I think that the courts 
would look negatively upon that. However, if a criminal breaks in 
at night and is attempting to rape his 4-year-old daughter and he 
does the same thing, it changes the way the courts look at the 
same situation. 

So I want to put to rest the idea that there aren’t effects on the 
circumstances, given the nature of any act. That’s very funda-
mental and I’m astonished that we don’t understand that. 

Another thing I’m a little confused about, Mr. Chairman, in all 
deference to the leadership of this Subcommittee and the larger 
Committee, the Judiciary Committee itself, we’ve spent time trying 
to deal with waterboarding issues, with issues related to FISA, 
with issues related to habeas corpus and Guantanamo. In all three 
of those areas we spent considerable time, and those things as-
serted by the majority would have great favorable effect on terror-
ists and very little effect on protecting American citizens. 

And I’m astonished that, given the fact that our first purpose in 
the Federal Government is to protect our citizens, that we spend 
so much time doing what we can to make sure that we’re pro-
tecting terrorists and not our own—not the citizens, which is our 
primary cause. 

With that said, I want to ask Mr. Bradbury a question. Inciden-
tally, sir, I think you’ve done a good job today. 

General Hayden testified last week that in the past, the U.S. 
military has used waterboarding against America’s soldiers during 
the SERE training program. SERE, that’s Survival Escape Resist-
ance and Evasion is the acronym. If waterboarding really is tor-
ture, then doesn’t that mean that the U.S. military routinely tor-
tures soldiers during their training? Would that be lawful? Do you 
think that those who support a criminal investigation of CIA offi-
cers for their interrogation of terrorists also would support an in-
vestigation of the military officers who waterboarded our soldiers 
during training exercises? 

Mr. BRADBURY. Well, Mr. Franks, as General Hayden did say, 
the CIA’s use of the waterboarding procedure was adapted from the 
SERE training program used by the Navy and other departments 
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of the military, in which many, many members of the military have 
been trained using that procedure. 

And I agree with Chairman Nadler that, as distinct from the 
cruel, inhuman or degrading treatment shocks the conscience 
standard under the Detainee Treatment Act, the torture statute is 
an absolute standard statute. It is a bright line rule and whenever 
its done in color of law, that’s when it’s done for Government pur-
poses on behalf of the Government. If it is torture when done for 
one purpose. The same act would be torture when done for another 
purpose. So I believe it would be correct that those training per-
sonnel engaged in the use of that procedure, which I think was 
used until very recently, would be guilty of torture. 

Mr. FRANKS. Well, again, I would just assert that I too truly be-
lieve that torture in our statute and in the practice of this country 
is illegal and should remain illegal. 

I’ve heard a lot of reports in the press that waterboarding was 
developed in the Spanish Inquisition and that the United States re-
peatedly prosecuted it. Is that true? Do you believe that these past 
historical practices bear any resemblance to the waterboarding as 
done by the CIA? 

Mr. BRADBURY. To my knowledge, they bear no resemblance to 
what the CIA did in 2002 and 2003. The only thing in common is, 
I think, the use of water. The historical examples that have been 
referenced in public debate have all involved a course of conduct 
that everyone would agree constituted egregious cases of torture. 

And with respect to the particular use of water in those cases, 
as I’ve indicated, in most of those cases they involved the forced 
consumption of large amounts of water, to such extent that—be-
yond the capacity in many cases of the victim’s stomach, so that 
the stomach would be distended. And then in many cases weight 
or pressure, including in the case of the Japanese, people standing 
on or jumping on the stomach of the victim, blood would come out 
of the mouth. And in the case of the Spanish Inquisition, there 
truly would be agony and, in many cases, death. 

And so some of these historical examples I think have been used 
in a way that’s not, I think, an accurate portrayal of what—of the 
careful procedures that the CIA was authorized to use with strict 
time limits, safeguards, restrictions, and not involving the same 
kind of water torture that was involved in most of those cases. 

Mr. FRANKS. Mr. Bradbury, my time is almost up, but you’ve— 
is it your testimony that waterboarding is indeed not torture and, 
if so, what briefly would you offer as the difference? 

Mr. BRADBURY. Well, let me say—first of all, let me make it very 
clear, as I tried to do in my testimony, there are a lot of laws that 
apply here beyond the torture statute, and waterboarding has not 
been used by the CIA since March of 2003. There has been no de-
termination by the Justice Department that its use today would 
satisfy those recently enacted laws, in particular the Military Com-
missions Act, which has defined new war crimes for violations of 
Common Article 3, which would make it much more difficult to con-
clude that the practices were lawful today. 

But under, strictly speaking, just under the anti-torture statute, 
as we’ve said in our December 2004 opinion, there are three basic 
concepts: severe physical pain, severe physical suffering, and severe 
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mental pain or suffering, which is specifically defined in the stat-
ute. 

And if something subject to strict safeguards, limitations and 
conditions does not involve severe physical pain or severe physical 
suffering—and severe physical suffering, we said in our December 
2004 opinion, has to take account both the intensity of the discom-
fort or distress involved and the duration. Something can be quite 
distressing or uncomfortable, even frightening, but if it doesn’t in-
volve severe or physical pain and it doesn’t last very long, it may 
not constitute severe physical suffering. That would be—that would 
be the analysis. 

Under the mental side, Congress was very careful in the torture 
statute to have a very precise definition of severe mental pain or 
suffering. It requires predicate conditions be met. And then, more-
over, as we said in our opinion in December 2004, reading many 
cases, court cases under the Torture Victims Protect Act, it re-
quires an intent to cause prolonged mental harm. Now that’s a 
mental disorder that is extended or continuing over time. And if 
you’ve got a body of experience with a particular procedure that’s 
been carefully monitored that indicates that you would not expect 
that there would be prolonged mental harm from a procedure, you 
could conclude that it is not torture under the precise terms of that 
statute. 

Mr. FRANKS. Thank you. 
Mr. BRADBURY. The last thing on the torture statute I’d like to 

say, though, Mr. Chairman, is that the Attorney General has made 
it clear that if he’s essentially taken—he’s taking ownership of this 
issue in the sense that if there were any proposal to use this tech-
nique again, the question would have to go to the Attorney Gen-
eral, and he would personally have to determine that it satisfies all 
the legal standards, including the torture statute. By the way, he 
is not simply going to rely on past opinions that may have ad-
dressed it years ago; he would make an independent and new judg-
ment today as to whether he agrees with that conclusion. 

Mr. FRANKS. Mr. Chairman, thank you. I just wanted to ask you 
to pass something to the Chairman. If indeed we’ve had testimony 
in this Committee that waterboarding is being used to train our 
soldiers, why aren’t we investigating that? Why are we more con-
cerned about the terrorists than we are our own soldiers? 

Mr. NADLER. Well, first of all, it is not necessary. One of the 
problems with waterboarding people that you may think are terror-
ists may not be. There’s the question—there is always the question 
of—— 

Mr. FRANKS. Well, we know that is happening to our soldiers; 
why are we not investigating that? 

Mr. NADLER. It is training in case they’re tortured. That’s what 
it is there for. 

Mr. FRANKS. That’s my point. 
Mr. NADLER. In case they are tortured, because we assume that 

enemy nations might torture people. We assume that we won’t tor-
ture people. We don’t assume the enemy is going to obey the law, 
so it may prudent to train our people for torture. 

In addition to which, I would point out that at least with respect 
to the mental element, infliction of severe mental distress, when 
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they are tortured they know they are not going to die. When some-
one is being drowned, the mental aspect is he doesn’t know you’re 
going to stop. If someone is being trained, he knows you’re not 
going to actually drown him. May be severe physical, but it is cer-
tainly not a severe mental aspect. When we are torturing somebody 
else or someone else is torturing one of our soldiers, they don’t 
know that they are going to be treated kindly. 

Mr. FRANKS. But if it is indeed, Mr. Chairman—if it is indeed 
torture shouldn’t we be 

Mr. NADLER. Well, is the gentleman asking me to investigate the 
military? 

Mr. FRANKS. I’m asking you to understand the points here. 
Mr. DAVIS. Mr. Chairman, can I ask for regular order? Mr. 

Franks has exceeded his time. 
Mr. FRANKS. Thank you. 
Mr. NADLER. Mr. Franks has exceeded his time. 
I would also point out that one thing is very interesting from Mr. 

Bradbury’s testimony, which really puts a very different light on a 
lot of things and makes it very necessary to get those documents, 
is that essentially what he said is that everything we have thought 
we knew about waterboarding from past cases—what the Japanese 
did, the Inquisition did, the newspapers have reported—that’s not 
what we’re talking about. We are talking about something else 
which may be different. If that’s the case, we have to know about 
it. 

I now recognize the gentleman from Alabama for 5 minutes. 
Mr. DAVIS. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. 
Mr. Bradbury, I have a number of questions I want to ask you, 

but I want to pick up on your last line with the Ranking Member. 
You reiterated to him, and I think you stated in your testimony 
today, that you do not consider waterboarding to be torture as the 
term is precisely defined. 

Your boss, the Attorney General, was asked a series of questions 
before the Senate Judiciary Committee and he stated that he 
would consider waterboarding to be torture if it was done to him. 
Is the Attorney General being hypersensitive? 

Mr. BRADBURY. Well, I think he was describing how he would 
personally react to what I think everybody would recognize would 
be a very distressing and frightening procedure. 

Mr. DAVIS. Let me pick up on that observation that it is a very 
distressing and frightening procedure. If individuals were subject 
to distressing, frightening procedures, is it conceivable that they 
might respond by lying? 

Mr. BRADBURY. Well, I’m not an expert on that. 
Mr. DAVIS. Well, let me ask you just to rely on your common 

sense. If someone—and I recognize we’ve quibbled today about the 
definition of waterboarding, let’s see if we can agree on some com-
mon sense concepts. 

Could waterboarding cause someone to feel distressed? If you 
would give me a simple answer. 

Mr. BRADBURY. I think so, yes. 
Mr. DAVIS. Could waterboarding cause someone to feel extremely 

frightened? 
Mr. BRADBURY. I think so. 
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Mr. DAVIS. And if someone were feeling distressed or extremely 
frightened, would that human being be capable of telling a lie? 

Mr. BRADBURY. I suppose so. 
Mr. DAVIS. John McCain, who is an authentic American hero and 

is about to become a nominee of the party that I suspect you belong 
to, was subject to torture in Vietnam, was he not? 

Mr. BRADBURY. Yes, sir. 
Mr. DAVIS. And in response to that torture, he signed a confes-

sion of being a war criminal. That was a false confession on his 
part, wasn’t it? 

Mr. BRADBURY. Yes, sir. 
Mr. DAVIS. It was an inaccurate, untruthful statement, was it 

not? 
Mr. BRADBURY. Yes, it was. 
Mr. DAVIS. And it was in response to the extreme distress and 

anxiety that he was experiencing, was it not? 
Mr. BRADBURY. I believe he had bones broken and he—— 
Mr. DAVIS. If you could answer my question. 
Mr. BRADBURY. Yes. Yes, it was. 
Mr. DAVIS. That’s the concern, Mr. Bradbury, that I think a 

number of us have. 
I strongly disagree with the Ranking Member, a very able Mem-

ber of this Committee, but I strongly disagree with his character-
ization that those of us who take issue with his position and yours 
are somehow trying to pass laws that favor terrorists. Some of us 
are concerned about the inherent unreliability of some of these 
practices. 

You were absolutely correct when you say that someone who is 
experiencing waterboarding can feel or experience anxiety, distress, 
and you’re absolutely correct to say that people in those conditions 
can lie. And if people can lie, they are not giving us the inherent 
information we need. Now let’s test that for a moment. 

Page 3 of your written statement, you state that these alter-
native interrogation methods have been used with fewer than one- 
third of the terrorists who have been detained in this program. Ap-
proximately how many people is that, Mr. Bradbury, about 30 or 
so? 

Mr. BRADBURY. I don’t think the exact number has been pub-
licly—— 

Mr. DAVIS. Just give me a ball park, if you would. This was your 
word choice. 

Mr. BRADBURY. I actually am not authorized to be more precise. 
Mr. DAVIS. Well, but this is your word choice. They have been 

used with fewer than one-third of the terrorists who have been de-
tained. Approximately how many have been detained? 

Mr. BRADBURY. Fewer than 100. 
Mr. DAVIS. All right. Fewer than 100, a third of those. Have any 

of those individuals, to your knowledge, lied in response to the in-
terrogation techniques? 

Mr. BRADBURY. I don’t know. 
Mr. DAVIS. Is it conceivable that some of them might have lied? 
Mr. BRADBURY. I don’t know. 
Mr. DAVIS. My point again. Mr. Bradbury, you’re right, you don’t 

know, you can’t know. 
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How many prosecutions have been brought based on what those 
30 or so individuals have said? 

Mr. BRADBURY. Mr. Davis—— 
Mr. DAVIS. That’s a simple question. How many prosecutions 

have been brought? Have there been any? 
Mr. BRADBURY. No. 
Mr. DAVIS. No prosecutions have been brought. You don’t know 

if any of them have given untrue or false information. You know, 
I am an SCC guy, so I like football. That sounds to me like a com-
pletion rate that could be pretty low for all we know. 

Mr. BRADBURY. May I—may I respond? 
Mr. DAVIS. Yes. 
Mr. BRADBURY. The purpose of this program is not to obtain evi-

dence to use in criminal prosecutions. The purpose of the program 
is to obtain intelligence that may be used to—— 

Mr. DAVIS. No, Mr. Bradbury. We have to test whether or not 
you are doing that. We have to test—if I could finish my sentence, 
sir, we have to test whether or not the program is reliable. I as-
sume you don’t mean to fashion a program that’s unreliable. 

Mr. BRADBURY. I—— 
Mr. DAVIS. I assume you don’t mean to fashion a program that 

doesn’t yield results. 
Mr. BRADBURY. I don’t fashion the program. We don’t fashion—— 
Mr. DAVIS. You don’t mean to condone or sanction a program 

that doesn’t yield results, do you? 
Mr. BRADBURY. I just give my legal opinion—— 
Mr. DAVIS. Let me make my point, Mr. Bradbury, since you’re 

not addressing my point. It is a very simple one. We can’t measure 
the accuracy of this program by saying we’ve gone out and brought 
hard-and-fast cases based on it. You cannot tell me whether any 
of these individuals, or all of these individuals, have lied. You’ve 
conceded to me that someone facing extreme anxiety and pressure 
could yield false information. 

I add all of that up and come to one simple conclusion: We can’t 
tell if this program is working. You won’t give us the information 
to let us know that. And for some of us, that’s not enough for this 
program to pass muster. And we take that position—not in the 
name of protecting terrorists, with all due respect to Mr. Franks— 
we take that position because we want to get the real terrorists, 
and we don’t know if you were succeeding in doing that or if you 
were unearthing a bunch of lies. 

And I yield back the balance of my time. 
Mr. BRADBURY. If I might, I rely—I can only rely on what Gen-

eral Hayden has said. General Hayden has said that this program 
has produced thousands and thousands of intelligence reports that 
have been extremely valuable in heading—— 

Mr. DAVIS. That’s an inherently subjective conclusion, Mr. 
Bradbury, that cannot be quantified in any way. It in no way re-
solves the concerns. 

Mr. BRADBURY. I believe he thinks it can be quantified and has 
been. 

Mr. DAVIS. Will he share that information with this Committee? 
Mr. BRADBURY. I know he has shared it with the House Intel-

ligence Committee. 
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Mr. DAVIS. Well, Mr. Chairman, I would end by requesting that 
if the individual you mentioned, General Hayden, the Intelligence 
Director, has quantifiable information about the accuracy of this 
program, we would ask that be disclosed and shared with this 
Committee. 

Mr. NADLER. The time of the gentleman is expired but I would 
second that as Chair of this Subcommittee. This is squarely within 
the jurisdiction of the Judiciary Committee as well, and we would 
ask this be shared with us. 

I now recognize the distinguished gentleman from Iowa, Mr. 
King, for 5 minutes. 

Mr. KING. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. 
I point out that in the introduction of our witness Mr. Bradbury, 

it was addressed that he is waiting confirmation by the United 
States Senate. I believe there are dozens, in fact perhaps hundreds, 
of the President’s appointees awaiting confirmation, and yet the 
unconfirmed representative of our Federal Government is being 
pushed to divulge what we know are State secrets here in a public 
meeting. And I don’t take issue with the security clearance. 

Mr. NADLER. We have asked that he provide this stuff that’s con-
fidential, in confidentiality to this Committee, all of whose Mem-
bers are cleared to Top Secret information we have not asked. 

Mr. KING. Reclaiming my time. 
Mr. NADLER. I will give you the time back in a second. And we 

will take that off the time you are here. 
I want to correct the record. Nobody has asked, nobody in this 

Committee has asked that secret information be disclosed publicly. 
Mr. KING. Our definition—thank you, Mr. Chairman, I recognize 

your point. I think we disagree on what secret information is, and 
some of that—the State secret has been a subject of debate before 
this Committee. That would be one. And how many have been in-
terrogated under this fashion? The question that was just asked 
and the answer Mr. Bradbury gave reluctantly was less than 100. 

But I think also some statements that have been made here need 
to be clarified. One is the statement that we know what 
waterboarding is. I don’t think there is a consensus on this Com-
mittee as to what waterboarding is. I think we understand from 
the testimony what some of the historical examples of or ancient 
versions of waterboarding are. But I go back to a statement made 
earlier by the Chairman, that as your lungs fill with water—and 
I would ask Mr. Bradbury, are you knowledgeable about any activ-
ity that would include a modern version of waterboarding in which 
the subject’s lungs would fill with water, literally? 

Mr. BRADBURY. No I’m not. 
Mr. KING. And I am not either. So I just point that out to illus-

trate that we don’t have a consensus on what we see as 
waterboarding. You did illustrate how it was used by the Japanese 
in World War II. 

I want to go back to—I want to stress—I want to make another 
point, is that while we are here having this hearing, talking about 
State secrets and the risk of divulging information to the terrorists 
who are pledged to kill us, we have a debate going on on the floor 
of the House of Representatives right now; at least it is a tactical 
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negotiation going on right now on the eve of the expiration of our 
FISA law. 

And I want to point out to this Committee that the national secu-
rity secrets that are subject here and the national security secrets 
that are the subject of the FISA debate put Americans at risk. And 
the sunset of the FISA law is an important piece of this that ties 
this all together, and politics are getting in the way of the policy. 

But I’m interested in one piece of the subject, and you went into 
the details of it to some degree. If your lungs don’t fill with water 
and the fear definition that you gave, how does one define how this 
is torture under that definition if there isn’t a physical pain that’s 
involved and if the lungs aren’t filling with water? 

Could you go back to that fear factor, the mental pain factor, and 
the fear definition that you gave Mr. Bradbury? 

Mr. BRADBURY. Yes, Mr. King, briefly. There is a specific defini-
tion in the anti-torture statute of severe mental pain or suffering, 
and it requires certain conditions, certain prerequisites or factors 
be present, and that those factors cause prolonged mental harm. 

And one of the factors, the one that raises most questions with 
respect to this particular procedure, is the question of whether it 
involves a threat of imminent death. And what’s pointed to there 
is the physiological sensation that’s created, physiological or mental 
sensation, almost like a gag urge of drowning. 

The question is whether that’s a threat of imminent death. And 
as I would understand it, as I think the Chairman may have sug-
gested, it’s a reaction that even if you’re involved in training, as I 
understand it, the subject would have. So whether or not you know 
that it’s not really involving drowning, you have this physiological 
reaction, and that’s the acute nature of it. 

And if that is a threat of imminent death, then you need to ask: 
Is it the kind that would be expected to cause prolonged mental 
harm; that is an ongoing, persistent mental disorder as a result of 
that? That’s what the cases have focused on with respect to the 
Torture Victims Protection Act and that would be—the analysis 
would turn on that. 

Mr. KING. Thank you, just a short—— 
Mr. BRADBURY. I’m sorry, may I point out, though, I don’t want 

the Committee to lose sight. There are new statutes on the books, 
and one of them is a new statute, the cruel and inhuman treatment 
war crime, added by the Military Commissions Act in fall 2006. 
That’s a crime that took this definition from the torture statute 
and changed it. 

Mr. NADLER. It—— 
Mr. BRADBURY. And it eliminated the prolonged mental harm re-

quirement and made it serious, but nontransitory, mental harm 
which need not be prolonged. That’s a new statute. It became effec-
tive in the fall of 2006. The Department has not analyzed this pro-
cedure under that statute. And as I think you can tell from the 
change in the language, that statute would present a more difficult 
question, significantly more difficult question with respect to this. 

Mr. KING. That language sounds vague. 
Are you aware of any version of waterboarding that’s currently 

practiced where there has been a result of death? 
Mr. BRADBURY. I am not. 
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Mr. KING. That’s my point. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. I yield 
back. 

Mr. NADLER. I thank the gentleman. The gentleman’s time has 
expired. I now recognize for 5 minutes the gentleman from Min-
nesota. 

Mr. ELLISON. General Mukasey testified in a Senate Judiciary 
Committee that he would not order an investigation of 
waterboarding depicted on the destroyed tapes, because the OLC 
had issued opinions regarding torture that were presumably relied 
upon by those administering the technique. 

He gave two reasons. It would not be appropriate for the Justice 
Department to be investigating itself was one reason. The other 
reason is it would not be fair to prosecute persons who relied on 
OLC opinions. 

As to the first reason, this is precisely the conflict situation for 
which the special counsel regulations of the Department call for 
pointing to someone outside of the Department to conduct impor-
tant investigations. 

But I want to focus on the second reason, which has certain im-
plications I would like you to focus on. At a minimum, we need to 
investigate whether their actions exceeded the legal advice that 
OLC gave them, or whether they would have known on their own 
that waterboarding could not be legal. 

But there is much more basic concern. If an OLC opinion, once 
written, had relied upon and relied upon, will prevent an investiga-
tion of executive branch felony or constitutional violations, we face 
a very dangerous situation. The President or other officials can vio-
late the rights of millions of Americans and simply show that they 
‘‘relied on an OLC opinion,’’ no matter how far out and baseless the 
opinion is. And if the victims try to bring a lawsuit, you will use 
the State secrets option to have the case thrown out of court before 
it even starts, so perpetuators will not even be investigated. 

Isn’t that a recipe for unchecked executive power? 
Mr. BRADBURY. Well, Congressman, no. I don’t—I don’t believe it 

is. And it may not be accepted at this point by this Committee, but 
I believe that the opinions we are talking about are reasonable and 
were appropriately relied on by the agency. 

I understand this Committee is not in a position now—— 
Mr. ELLISON. Excuse me. Mr. Bradbury, excuse me, I have got 

to reclaim my time. How do you know that they were relied upon 
as you set forth those opinions? 

Mr. BRADBURY. That’s my understanding. 
Mr. ELLISON. What is your understanding based on? 
Mr. BRADBURY. Based on my interactions. 
Mr. ELLISON. Is it based on you attending the application of 

these techniques of these enhanced interrogation techniques? 
Mr. BRADBURY. No, sir. 
Mr. ELLISON. Were you ever present for an incident of 

waterboarding? 
Mr. BRADBURY. No. 
Mr. ELLISON. Now, you said earlier that—— 
Mr. BRADBURY. I’m sorry, may I respond? 
Mr. ELLISON. No, I reclaim my time, sir. I’m sorry. 

VerDate Aug 31 2005 11:13 Nov 17, 2008 Jkt 000000 PO 00000 Frm 00029 Fmt 6633 Sfmt 6601 H:\WORK\CONST\021408\40743.000 HJUD1 PsN: 40743

Case 1:07-cv-05435-LAP     Document 129-2      Filed 12/23/2008     Page 29 of 67



26 

Now, you indicated earlier that the waterboarding that we’ve 
been talking about, applied by people who you give legal advice to, 
is nothing like what happened to American soldiers at the hands 
of the Japanese or in the Spanish Inquisition. You’ve made that 
point clear. 

Can you tell us exactly what it is like? Can you describe exactly 
what—how this technique is applied, based upon the advice that 
you have given? 

Mr. BRADBURY. No, Mr. Ellison, I’m really not—— 
Mr. ELLISON. Have you seen video tape? 
Mr. BRADBURY. That—no, I’ve not. 
Mr. ELLISON. And so you haven’t been there and you haven’t 

seen videotape. So how in the world do you know that the advice 
you’ve been giving has been properly relied on? Somebody told you? 

Mr. BRADBURY. I have reason to believe. 
Mr. ELLISON. Which is what? 
Mr. BRADBURY. In my interactions with the people that we work 

with. 
Mr. ELLISON. Okay, your interactions. Are you talking about 

statements that were made to you, and that’s what you’re relying 
on? 

Mr. BRADBURY. Talking about statements between clients and 
lawyers. 

Mr. ELLISON. I know. I’m not asking you about what your client 
said or what you said back. I’m saying how do you know that the 
advice that you were given was properly relied on, how do you 
know that? How do you know that the limits were not exceeded? 

Mr. BRADBURY. I believe that—— 
Mr. ELLISON. Because somebody told you, right? 
Mr. BRADBURY. I believe that that’s—— 
Mr. ELLISON. Because somebody said so, right? 
Mr. BRADBURY. I don’t have—I believe that that is the case. 
Mr. ELLISON. Okay, so—— 
Mr. BRADBURY. May I make—— 
Mr. ELLISON. No, no, you can’t, because I only have 5 minutes. 

If I had more time you could talk all you want. 
Mr. BRADBURY. I would like to respond to—— 
Mr. ELLISON. No, I am going to ask you to answer my questions. 

That’s the way this hearing goes. 
So let me ask you this. I think the point was made before that 

it’s somehow torture for the American military to use 
waterboarding as a training exercise, you agreed that it would in 
fact be torture if it were done and a violation of law. That’s what 
you said, right? 

Mr. BRADBURY. If something is torture for one purpose but it’s 
done by the Government for another purpose, the same procedure 
would be torture in the other context. 

Mr. ELLISON. Sure. So when a police officer goes and sells drugs 
as an undercover agent, do you think they should be prosecuted for 
controlled substance violations? I would guess you would say no to 
that, right? 

Mr. BRADBURY. May I? 
Mr. ELLISON. No. I mean, sting operations, if somebody—if a po-

lice officer is told there’s a child pornographer—— 
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Mr. BRADBURY. Mr. Chairman, may I respond? 
Mr. ELLISON. Respond to the question. You have to be respon-

sive. 
Mr. BRADBURY. May I? May I respond? 
Mr. ELLISON. If you’re responsive. 
Mr. BRADBURY. There are lines of cases addressing exactly that 

circumstance that say generally worded statutes that simply say 
any person are not reasonably read to cover the police officer in cir-
cumstances that you’ve suggested, because it would be an absurd 
result and it would not allow the Government to undertake an es-
sential function. In this case we’re dealing with a statute that says 
under Color of Law it is specifically addressed to Government ac-
tivity. So that line of cases would not apply to this statute. 

Mr. ELLISON. Right. And I’m sure you’ll provide the citations for 
the cases. 

Mr. BRADBURY. If you would like. 
Mr. ELLISON. I would like. 
Mr. BRADBURY. I’m happy to. 
Mr. ELLISON. You mean at some later point? 
Mr. BRADBURY. Well, I don’t have the names of the cases on me. 
Mr. ELLISON. So for example, you’re saying there’s a case, so 

trust me? 
Mr. BRADBURY. Sure, there are Third Circuit cases and Second 

Circuit cases. 
Mr. ELLISON. But you don’t know the cases and so you can get 

them to me later. 
Mr. BRADBURY. I’m happy to do that. 
[The information referred to is available on page 46.] 
Mr. ELLISON. As a person who has practiced law for 16 years, if 

I told a judge, hey, there’s a case, Judge, it wouldn’t pass muster. 
Not that I’m a judge here, but you’re citing caselaw, so I expect you 
to at least know the name of the case. 

Mr. BRADBURY. I’m not making a legal argument. 
Mr. ELLISON. All right. Now, let me just ask you this question. 

Are we done? Okay, I’m done. 
Mr. NADLER. The time of the gentleman has expired. The gen-

tleman from Virginia is recognized for 5 minutes. 
Mr. SCOTT. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. Mr. Bradbury, in your 

statement you said that the CIA program is very narrow in scope 
and is reserved for a small number of most hardened terrorists be-
lieved to possess uniquely valuable intelligence, intelligence that 
could directly save lives. Later on you say fewer than 100 terrorists 
have been detained by the CIA as part of this program. It’s been 
one of the most valuable sources of intelligence. 

If you’re using what everybody else in the world would consider 
torture, is it okay if you’re not doing it to too many people and 
you’re getting good information? 

Mr. BRADBURY. No. If it’s torture it’s not okay. We recognize, and 
this is what we said in our December 2004 opinion, torture is ab-
horrent. And I think the President has made it clear that it’s not 
condoned or tolerated. 

Mr. SCOTT. That’s 2004. What about 2005? 
Mr. BRADBURY. I’m sorry, in 2005? 
Mr. SCOTT. The 2005 memo. 
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Mr. BRADBURY. Our memos have consistently applied the prin-
ciples from the December 2004 opinion. 

Mr. SCOTT. And so if it’s—is there any international precedence 
outside of this Administration that suggests that waterboarding is 
not torture? Anybody else in the world ever consider waterboarding 
not torture except this Administration? 

Mr. BRADBURY. I am not aware of precedents that address the 
precise procedures used by the CIA. I’m simply not aware of prece-
dents on point. And that’s often what makes, frankly what makes 
our job difficult. And I recognize that—— 

Mr. SCOTT. Well, you had the stuff on tape. You’ve heard the, I’m 
sure you’ve heard the joke about the guy who was testifying in his 
murder trial and the prosecutor asking him to tell the truth and 
the guy said yes and the prosecutor said, do you know the penalty 
for perjury, and the defendant said yes, it’s a whole lot less than 
the penalty for murder. 

Now, my question is, is the penalty for destroying the CIA tapes 
less or more than the penalty that could have been imposed had 
the contents of the tape been seen? 

Mr. BRADBURY. I don’t know the answer. I’m not in a position to 
answer that. Of course that matter is being handled by John Dur-
ham, the acting U.S. attorney in the Eastern District of Virginia. 

Mr. SCOTT. Was your office involved in the discussion as to 
whether or not the CIA tapes should have been destroyed? 

Mr. BRADBURY. I was not, and to my knowledge I don’t know of 
anybody who was. 

Mr. SCOTT. You do not know—— 
Mr. BRADBURY. I don’t know of anybody in our office who was. 
Mr. SCOTT. Well, who was involved in the discussion? 
Mr. BRADBURY. I don’t know. I don’t have personal knowledge of 

that. 
Mr. SCOTT. Well, give us some leads. Who do you think was in-

volved? 
Mr. BRADBURY. I’m not in a position, Mr. Scott, to do that. I only 

know what I’ve read in the paper about the—— 
Mr. SCOTT. And so if we’re trying to find out who was involved 

in the discussion of the destruction of the CIA tapes, who should 
we look to? 

Mr. BRADBURY. I would look to the outcome of Mr. Durham’s in-
vestigation. 

Mr. SCOTT. Well, I mean, help us out a little bit. You’re right 
here. Who would be involved in that discussion, in your opinion? 

Mr. BRADBURY. Well, I believe communications between the De-
partment and—I know Chairman Reyes on the Intel Committee 
had been handled by the deputy, the acting deputy attorney gen-
eral, and so I would refer you to his office. 

Mr. SCOTT. Okay. You’ve indicated that you want to be clear. Let 
me be clear, though. There has been no determination by the Jus-
tice Department. The use of waterboarding under any cir-
cumstances would be lawful under current law. 

Mr. BRADBURY. That’s correct. 
Mr. SCOTT. Has there been any determination that it is unlawful 

under current law? 
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Mr. BRADBURY. No, sir, because the Department, as I’ve tried to 
indicate, has not had occasion to address the question since the en-
actment of these new laws. 

Mr. SCOTT. And we don’t have the CIA tapes to know what we’re 
talking about, so everything is kind of vague. In the 2007 Executive 
order in your statement says, the Executive order makes clear to 
the world that the CIA program must and will be operated in com-
plete conformity with all applicable statutory standards, including 
Federal prohibition against torture, the prohibition on cruel inhu-
mane or degrading treatment contained in the Detainee Treatment 
Act and the prohibitions on grave breaches of Common Article 3 in 
the Geneva Conventions as defined in the amended War Crimes 
Act. Did that part of the Executive order change anything? 

Mr. BRADBURY. Yes, in the sense that that Executive order—that 
part of the Executive order simply affirms that those statutes must 
be complied with. 

Mr. SCOTT. Did that part of the—— 
Mr. BRADBURY. That doesn’t—I’m sorry? 
Mr. SCOTT. Did that part of the Executive order change any-

thing? 
Mr. BRADBURY. No, not in the sense that those statutes on their 

own terms do apply. In other words, recognize that those statutes 
must be satisfied. But I think the one thing the Executive order 
does do is—— 

Mr. SCOTT. I’m just talking about that part of the Executive 
order that says you’re going to comply with the law. 

Mr. BRADBURY. We have to comply with the law. The program 
has to comply with the law. 

Mr. SCOTT. So those words didn’t add anything. Could we be con-
cerned about the word ‘‘grave,’’ prohibitions on grave breaches of 
Common Article 3? 

Mr. BRADBURY. That’s the term, Congressman, that’s used in the 
Military Commissions Act, which define those new War Crimes Act 
offenses. That’s the term that is used in the statute. That’s all that 
is referring to. Those are those serious violations of Common Arti-
cle 3 that merit criminal penalties. 

Mr. SCOTT. So breaches of Common Article 3 that are not grave 
are not illegal under the War Crimes Act; they’re improper appar-
ently, but not illegal under the War Crimes Act? 

Mr. BRADBURY. That’s correct. They would be a violation of our 
treaty obligations. And other aspects of the President’s Executive 
order address those other aspects of Common Article 3. The pur-
pose of the Executive order is to define requirements to ensure 
compliance with our treaty obligations under Common Article 3. 

Mr. SCOTT. My time has just about expired, Mr. Chairman. I 
yield back. 

Mr. NADLER. I thank the gentleman. I now recognize the gen-
tleman from North Carolina for 5 minutes. 

Mr. WATT. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. Mr. Bradbury, on page 2 
of your written testimony you say that fewer than 100 terrorists 
have been detained by the CIA as part of the program since its in-
ception in 2002. Those are the people who were at Guantanamo? 

Mr. BRADBURY. I believe the 14, maybe 15 high value detainees 
at Guantanamo who were transferred there from CIA custody are 
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among those who have ever been detained by the CIA. But the CIA 
has held others. So that’s not the sum total of the terrorists who 
have ever been detained in this program by the CIA. Those were 
the ones who were—I believe, as the President said in September 
of 2006, when the 14 HVDs were moved to Gitmo at that time, that 
that emptied the overseas facilities of the CIA. At that time there 
were no—— 

Mr. WATT. What’s the totality of the number of people that was 
held at Guantanamo? 

Mr. BRADBURY. Over time or today? 
Mr. WATT. Over time and today. 
Mr. BRADBURY. I believe over time it may have—I may not have 

the accurate number. It may be somewhere around 700, 750. And 
today I believe it’s about 350. 

Mr. WATT. And if I were trying to determine the disposition of 
one or more of those 350 people who are still there—well, first of 
all, what is the maximum duration that they have been held there? 

Mr. BRADBURY. I believe the first detainees came into Gitmo 
around January or February of 2002, I believe. 

Mr. WATT. So we’ve got some people there who have been there 
since 2002? 

Mr. BRADBURY. I believe so. 
Mr. WATT. And they’re still there. And have they been formally 

charged with anything? 
Mr. BRADBURY. Some of them have been. A small number have 

been formally charged. That number is growing as we move for-
ward with military commission procedures. All of them have had 
the combatant status review tribunal determinations that they are 
enemy combatants. They go through that process, which is then 
subject to appeal to the D.C. Circuit under the Detainee Treatment 
Act. 

Mr. WATT. And if I were trying to find out the status of one or 
more of those 350 people, who would I be contacting? 

Mr. BRADBURY. I would suggest that you contact Gordon Eng-
land, the Deputy Secretary of Defense, directly. 

Mr. WATT. And would he be in a position to determine who’s 
there and what their disposition is; is that the information that 
would be made available to a Member of Congress? 

Mr. BRADBURY. I don’t know for sure, but I believe yes, sir. I be-
lieve he’ll be able to provide that information. 

Mr. WATT. Okay. And he’s at the Department of Defense? 
Mr. BRADBURY. He’s the Deputy Secretary of Defense, Mr. Eng-

land. 
Mr. WATT. Okay. The whole legal regimen you say has changed 

now; new statutes. I’m wondering whether the President still has, 
in your opinion, the authority to under Article 2 to disregard the 
new legal framework, regardless of what—let’s suppose you all 
issued an opinion that said under the new framework 
waterboarding was illegal. 

Mr. BRADBURY. Correct. 
Mr. WATT. Could the President disregard that under Article 2? 
Mr. BRADBURY. I don’t believe the President would ever—— 
Mr. WATT. I didn’t ask you whether he would do it. I said could 

he do it? 
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Mr. BRADBURY. May I make a couple of points? 
Mr. WATT. If you will answer my question first, you could make 

as many points as you would like. I would like to know first wheth-
er in your legal opinion the President has the authority under Arti-
cle 2 to disregard an opinion that your office has issued? 

Mr. BRADBURY. I don’t believe he would disregard—— 
Mr. WATT. I didn’t ask you that, Mr. Bradbury. I asked you 

whether he would have the authority to do it. I didn’t ask you 
whether he would do it or not. 

Mr. BRADBURY. Well, he—— 
Mr. WATT. I give my President the same presumptions that you 

do, that he would not. 
Mr. BRADBURY. He would not. 
Mr. WATT. But would he have the authority to do it under Article 

2? That’s the question I’m trying to—— 
Mr. BRADBURY. Could I get to that in a second? 
Mr. WATT. What about answering that first and then getting to 

the explanation? 
Mr. BRADBURY. This Congress has constitutional authority to 

enact these provisions, these War Crimes Act offenses. And so I be-
lieve they’re constitutional. The Congress has authority to define 
offenses against the law of nations. It’s constitutional authority 
that Congress has. There’s no question about the constitutionality 
of the statutes. Moreover, traditionally and by statute the Attorney 
General is the chief law enforcement officer for the United States 
who gives opinions for the executive branch on what the law re-
quires. And in all cases the President will look to those opinions; 
will not disregard them. 

Now, in theory, Congressman, the President stands at the top of 
the executive branch. So in theory all of the authority of executive 
branch officers, including the Attorney General, is subject to the ul-
timate authority of the President. That said, it’s not—it is quite hy-
pothetical, and I believe unsustainable, for the President to dis-
regard an opinion of the Attorney General, particularly a consid-
ered formal opinion of the Attorney General. 

Mr. WATT. My question you still haven’t answered even after all 
of that. Does the President have the authority to disregard the 
opinion under Article 2? 

Mr. BRADBURY. Well, the President is sworn to—— 
Mr. WATT. I understand—— 
Mr. NADLER. The time of the gentleman has expired. I believe, 

Mr. Bradbury, your answer is yes, he has that authority? 
Mr. BRADBURY. Well, Mr. Chairman, you are putting words in 

my mouth. 
Mr. NADLER. Yes, I am. I think you’ve said he has that authority, 

but it would be very rare for him to exercise it. 
Mr. WATT. Well, the question is does he have the authority, and 

if he does—I mean, I would love to have gotten, if you hadn’t ropey 
doped my whole 5 minutes here, to the next question, which is are 
there any limits to that authority? 

Mr. BRADBURY. Yes, there are. 
Mr. NADLER. Answer that question briefly. 
Mr. BRADBURY. General Hayden has very clearly said, and this 

is a practical limit that matters under our system of Government, 
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he will not order his people and his people will not do anything 
that the Attorney General has determined is inconsistent with a 
statute that applies. 

Mr. WATT. So if the President of the United States issues the 
order to General Hayden, he’s not going to—he’s going to listen to 
the Attorney General rather than to the President of the United 
States, that’s what you’re saying? 

Mr. BRADBURY. That’s what General Hayden has said. 
Mr. NADLER. The time of the gentleman has expired. All time 

has expired. 
Mr. Bradbury, our Members may have additional questions after 

this hearing. We’ve had some difficulty getting responses to our 
questions from the Justice Department and timely responses when 
we get them at all. Will you commit to providing a written response 
to our written questions within 30 days of receipt of the questions? 

Mr. BRADBURY. Yes. I will do it as soon as possible and I will 
make every effort to do it within 30 days. 

Mr. NADLER. Thank you. Without objection, all Members will 
have 5 legislative days to submit to the Chair additional written 
questions for the witness, which we will forward and ask the wit-
ness to respond as promptly as you can so that your answer may 
be made part of the record. 

Without objection, all Members will have 5 legislative days to 
submit any additional materials for inclusion in the record. 

I will note for the edification of the Members there are 7 minutes 
left on the vote on the motion to adjourn on the floor. With that, 
this hearing is adjourned. 

[Whereupon, at 1:25 p.m., the Subcommittee was adjourned.] 
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MATERIAL SUBMITTED FOR THE HEARING RECORD 

VerDate Aug 31 2005 11:13 Nov 17, 2008 Jkt 000000 PO 00000 Frm 00037 Fmt 6602 Sfmt 6602 H:\WORK\CONST\021408\40743.000 HJUD1 PsN: 40743 A
-1

.e
ps

Case 1:07-cv-05435-LAP     Document 129-2      Filed 12/23/2008     Page 37 of 67



34 

VerDate Aug 31 2005 11:13 Nov 17, 2008 Jkt 000000 PO 00000 Frm 00038 Fmt 6602 Sfmt 6602 H:\WORK\CONST\021408\40743.000 HJUD1 PsN: 40743 A
-2

.e
ps

Case 1:07-cv-05435-LAP     Document 129-2      Filed 12/23/2008     Page 38 of 67



35 

f 

VerDate Aug 31 2005 11:13 Nov 17, 2008 Jkt 000000 PO 00000 Frm 00039 Fmt 6602 Sfmt 6602 H:\WORK\CONST\021408\40743.000 HJUD1 PsN: 40743 A
-3

.e
ps

Case 1:07-cv-05435-LAP     Document 129-2      Filed 12/23/2008     Page 39 of 67



36 

VerDate Aug 31 2005 11:13 Nov 17, 2008 Jkt 000000 PO 00000 Frm 00040 Fmt 6602 Sfmt 6602 H:\WORK\CONST\021408\40743.000 HJUD1 PsN: 40743 B
-1

.e
ps

Case 1:07-cv-05435-LAP     Document 129-2      Filed 12/23/2008     Page 40 of 67



37 

VerDate Aug 31 2005 11:13 Nov 17, 2008 Jkt 000000 PO 00000 Frm 00041 Fmt 6602 Sfmt 6602 H:\WORK\CONST\021408\40743.000 HJUD1 PsN: 40743 B
-2

.e
ps

Case 1:07-cv-05435-LAP     Document 129-2      Filed 12/23/2008     Page 41 of 67



38 

VerDate Aug 31 2005 11:13 Nov 17, 2008 Jkt 000000 PO 00000 Frm 00042 Fmt 6602 Sfmt 6602 H:\WORK\CONST\021408\40743.000 HJUD1 PsN: 40743 B
-3

.e
ps

Case 1:07-cv-05435-LAP     Document 129-2      Filed 12/23/2008     Page 42 of 67



39 

f 

VerDate Aug 31 2005 11:13 Nov 17, 2008 Jkt 000000 PO 00000 Frm 00043 Fmt 6602 Sfmt 6602 H:\WORK\CONST\021408\40743.000 HJUD1 PsN: 40743 B
-4

.e
ps

Case 1:07-cv-05435-LAP     Document 129-2      Filed 12/23/2008     Page 43 of 67



40 

VerDate Aug 31 2005 11:13 Nov 17, 2008 Jkt 000000 PO 00000 Frm 00044 Fmt 6602 Sfmt 6602 H:\WORK\CONST\021408\40743.000 HJUD1 PsN: 40743 C
-1

.e
ps

Case 1:07-cv-05435-LAP     Document 129-2      Filed 12/23/2008     Page 44 of 67



41 

VerDate Aug 31 2005 11:13 Nov 17, 2008 Jkt 000000 PO 00000 Frm 00045 Fmt 6602 Sfmt 6602 H:\WORK\CONST\021408\40743.000 HJUD1 PsN: 40743 C
-2

.e
ps

Case 1:07-cv-05435-LAP     Document 129-2      Filed 12/23/2008     Page 45 of 67



42 

VerDate Aug 31 2005 11:13 Nov 17, 2008 Jkt 000000 PO 00000 Frm 00046 Fmt 6602 Sfmt 6602 H:\WORK\CONST\021408\40743.000 HJUD1 PsN: 40743 C
-3

.e
ps

Case 1:07-cv-05435-LAP     Document 129-2      Filed 12/23/2008     Page 46 of 67



43 

VerDate Aug 31 2005 11:13 Nov 17, 2008 Jkt 000000 PO 00000 Frm 00047 Fmt 6602 Sfmt 6602 H:\WORK\CONST\021408\40743.000 HJUD1 PsN: 40743 C
-4

.e
ps

Case 1:07-cv-05435-LAP     Document 129-2      Filed 12/23/2008     Page 47 of 67



44 

VerDate Aug 31 2005 11:13 Nov 17, 2008 Jkt 000000 PO 00000 Frm 00048 Fmt 6602 Sfmt 6602 H:\WORK\CONST\021408\40743.000 HJUD1 PsN: 40743 C
-5

.e
ps

Case 1:07-cv-05435-LAP     Document 129-2      Filed 12/23/2008     Page 48 of 67



45 

VerDate Aug 31 2005 11:13 Nov 17, 2008 Jkt 000000 PO 00000 Frm 00049 Fmt 6602 Sfmt 6602 H:\WORK\CONST\021408\40743.000 HJUD1 PsN: 40743 C
-6

.e
ps

Case 1:07-cv-05435-LAP     Document 129-2      Filed 12/23/2008     Page 49 of 67



46 

VerDate Aug 31 2005 11:13 Nov 17, 2008 Jkt 000000 PO 00000 Frm 00050 Fmt 6602 Sfmt 6602 H:\WORK\CONST\021408\40743.000 HJUD1 PsN: 40743 C
-7

.e
ps

Case 1:07-cv-05435-LAP     Document 129-2      Filed 12/23/2008     Page 50 of 67



47 

VerDate Aug 31 2005 11:13 Nov 17, 2008 Jkt 000000 PO 00000 Frm 00051 Fmt 6602 Sfmt 6602 H:\WORK\CONST\021408\40743.000 HJUD1 PsN: 40743 C
-8

.e
ps

Case 1:07-cv-05435-LAP     Document 129-2      Filed 12/23/2008     Page 51 of 67



48 

VerDate Aug 31 2005 11:13 Nov 17, 2008 Jkt 000000 PO 00000 Frm 00052 Fmt 6602 Sfmt 6602 H:\WORK\CONST\021408\40743.000 HJUD1 PsN: 40743 C
-9

.e
ps

Case 1:07-cv-05435-LAP     Document 129-2      Filed 12/23/2008     Page 52 of 67



49 

VerDate Aug 31 2005 11:13 Nov 17, 2008 Jkt 000000 PO 00000 Frm 00053 Fmt 6602 Sfmt 6602 H:\WORK\CONST\021408\40743.000 HJUD1 PsN: 40743 C
-1

0.
ep

s

Case 1:07-cv-05435-LAP     Document 129-2      Filed 12/23/2008     Page 53 of 67



50 

VerDate Aug 31 2005 11:13 Nov 17, 2008 Jkt 000000 PO 00000 Frm 00054 Fmt 6602 Sfmt 6602 H:\WORK\CONST\021408\40743.000 HJUD1 PsN: 40743 C
-1

1.
ep

s

Case 1:07-cv-05435-LAP     Document 129-2      Filed 12/23/2008     Page 54 of 67



51 

VerDate Aug 31 2005 11:13 Nov 17, 2008 Jkt 000000 PO 00000 Frm 00055 Fmt 6602 Sfmt 6602 H:\WORK\CONST\021408\40743.000 HJUD1 PsN: 40743 C
-1

2.
ep

s

Case 1:07-cv-05435-LAP     Document 129-2      Filed 12/23/2008     Page 55 of 67



52 

VerDate Aug 31 2005 11:13 Nov 17, 2008 Jkt 000000 PO 00000 Frm 00056 Fmt 6602 Sfmt 6602 H:\WORK\CONST\021408\40743.000 HJUD1 PsN: 40743 C
-1

3.
ep

s

Case 1:07-cv-05435-LAP     Document 129-2      Filed 12/23/2008     Page 56 of 67



53 

VerDate Aug 31 2005 11:13 Nov 17, 2008 Jkt 000000 PO 00000 Frm 00057 Fmt 6602 Sfmt 6602 H:\WORK\CONST\021408\40743.000 HJUD1 PsN: 40743 C
-1

4.
ep

s

Case 1:07-cv-05435-LAP     Document 129-2      Filed 12/23/2008     Page 57 of 67



54 

VerDate Aug 31 2005 11:13 Nov 17, 2008 Jkt 000000 PO 00000 Frm 00058 Fmt 6602 Sfmt 6602 H:\WORK\CONST\021408\40743.000 HJUD1 PsN: 40743 C
-1

5.
ep

s

Case 1:07-cv-05435-LAP     Document 129-2      Filed 12/23/2008     Page 58 of 67



55 

VerDate Aug 31 2005 11:13 Nov 17, 2008 Jkt 000000 PO 00000 Frm 00059 Fmt 6602 Sfmt 6602 H:\WORK\CONST\021408\40743.000 HJUD1 PsN: 40743 C
-1

6.
ep

s

Case 1:07-cv-05435-LAP     Document 129-2      Filed 12/23/2008     Page 59 of 67



56 

VerDate Aug 31 2005 11:13 Nov 17, 2008 Jkt 000000 PO 00000 Frm 00060 Fmt 6602 Sfmt 6602 H:\WORK\CONST\021408\40743.000 HJUD1 PsN: 40743 C
-1

7.
ep

s

Case 1:07-cv-05435-LAP     Document 129-2      Filed 12/23/2008     Page 60 of 67



57 

VerDate Aug 31 2005 11:13 Nov 17, 2008 Jkt 000000 PO 00000 Frm 00061 Fmt 6602 Sfmt 6602 H:\WORK\CONST\021408\40743.000 HJUD1 PsN: 40743 C
-1

8.
ep

s

Case 1:07-cv-05435-LAP     Document 129-2      Filed 12/23/2008     Page 61 of 67



58 

VerDate Aug 31 2005 11:13 Nov 17, 2008 Jkt 000000 PO 00000 Frm 00062 Fmt 6602 Sfmt 6602 H:\WORK\CONST\021408\40743.000 HJUD1 PsN: 40743 C
-1

9.
ep

s

Case 1:07-cv-05435-LAP     Document 129-2      Filed 12/23/2008     Page 62 of 67



59 

VerDate Aug 31 2005 11:13 Nov 17, 2008 Jkt 000000 PO 00000 Frm 00063 Fmt 6602 Sfmt 6602 H:\WORK\CONST\021408\40743.000 HJUD1 PsN: 40743 C
-2

0.
ep

s

Case 1:07-cv-05435-LAP     Document 129-2      Filed 12/23/2008     Page 63 of 67



60 

VerDate Aug 31 2005 11:13 Nov 17, 2008 Jkt 000000 PO 00000 Frm 00064 Fmt 6602 Sfmt 6602 H:\WORK\CONST\021408\40743.000 HJUD1 PsN: 40743 C
-2

1.
ep

s

Case 1:07-cv-05435-LAP     Document 129-2      Filed 12/23/2008     Page 64 of 67



61 

VerDate Aug 31 2005 11:13 Nov 17, 2008 Jkt 000000 PO 00000 Frm 00065 Fmt 6602 Sfmt 6602 H:\WORK\CONST\021408\40743.000 HJUD1 PsN: 40743 C
-2

2.
ep

s

Case 1:07-cv-05435-LAP     Document 129-2      Filed 12/23/2008     Page 65 of 67



62 

VerDate Aug 31 2005 11:13 Nov 17, 2008 Jkt 000000 PO 00000 Frm 00066 Fmt 6602 Sfmt 6602 H:\WORK\CONST\021408\40743.000 HJUD1 PsN: 40743 C
-2

3.
ep

s

Case 1:07-cv-05435-LAP     Document 129-2      Filed 12/23/2008     Page 66 of 67



63 

Æ 

VerDate Aug 31 2005 11:13 Nov 17, 2008 Jkt 000000 PO 00000 Frm 00067 Fmt 6602 Sfmt 6011 H:\WORK\CONST\021408\40743.000 HJUD1 PsN: 40743 C
-2

4.
ep

s

Case 1:07-cv-05435-LAP     Document 129-2      Filed 12/23/2008     Page 67 of 67



Case 1:07-cv-05435-LAP     Document 129-3      Filed 12/23/2008     Page 1 of 12



Case 1:07-cv-05435-LAP     Document 129-3      Filed 12/23/2008     Page 2 of 12



Case 1:07-cv-05435-LAP     Document 129-3      Filed 12/23/2008     Page 3 of 12



Case 1:07-cv-05435-LAP     Document 129-3      Filed 12/23/2008     Page 4 of 12



Case 1:07-cv-05435-LAP     Document 129-3      Filed 12/23/2008     Page 5 of 12



Case 1:07-cv-05435-LAP     Document 129-3      Filed 12/23/2008     Page 6 of 12



Case 1:07-cv-05435-LAP     Document 129-3      Filed 12/23/2008     Page 7 of 12



Case 1:07-cv-05435-LAP     Document 129-3      Filed 12/23/2008     Page 8 of 12



Case 1:07-cv-05435-LAP     Document 129-3      Filed 12/23/2008     Page 9 of 12



Case 1:07-cv-05435-LAP     Document 129-3      Filed 12/23/2008     Page 10 of 12



Case 1:07-cv-05435-LAP     Document 129-3      Filed 12/23/2008     Page 11 of 12



Case 1:07-cv-05435-LAP     Document 129-3      Filed 12/23/2008     Page 12 of 12



Case 1:07-cv-05435-LAP     Document 129-4      Filed 12/23/2008     Page 1 of 43



Case 1:07-cv-05435-LAP     Document 129-4      Filed 12/23/2008     Page 2 of 43



Case 1:07-cv-05435-LAP     Document 129-4      Filed 12/23/2008     Page 3 of 43



Case 1:07-cv-05435-LAP     Document 129-4      Filed 12/23/2008     Page 4 of 43



Case 1:07-cv-05435-LAP     Document 129-4      Filed 12/23/2008     Page 5 of 43



Case 1:07-cv-05435-LAP     Document 129-4      Filed 12/23/2008     Page 6 of 43



Case 1:07-cv-05435-LAP     Document 129-4      Filed 12/23/2008     Page 7 of 43



Case 1:07-cv-05435-LAP     Document 129-4      Filed 12/23/2008     Page 8 of 43



Case 1:07-cv-05435-LAP     Document 129-4      Filed 12/23/2008     Page 9 of 43



Case 1:07-cv-05435-LAP     Document 129-4      Filed 12/23/2008     Page 10 of 43



Case 1:07-cv-05435-LAP     Document 129-4      Filed 12/23/2008     Page 11 of 43



Case 1:07-cv-05435-LAP     Document 129-4      Filed 12/23/2008     Page 12 of 43



Case 1:07-cv-05435-LAP     Document 129-4      Filed 12/23/2008     Page 13 of 43



Case 1:07-cv-05435-LAP     Document 129-4      Filed 12/23/2008     Page 14 of 43



Case 1:07-cv-05435-LAP     Document 129-4      Filed 12/23/2008     Page 15 of 43



Case 1:07-cv-05435-LAP     Document 129-4      Filed 12/23/2008     Page 16 of 43



Case 1:07-cv-05435-LAP     Document 129-4      Filed 12/23/2008     Page 17 of 43



Case 1:07-cv-05435-LAP     Document 129-4      Filed 12/23/2008     Page 18 of 43



Case 1:07-cv-05435-LAP     Document 129-4      Filed 12/23/2008     Page 19 of 43



Case 1:07-cv-05435-LAP     Document 129-4      Filed 12/23/2008     Page 20 of 43



Case 1:07-cv-05435-LAP     Document 129-4      Filed 12/23/2008     Page 21 of 43



Case 1:07-cv-05435-LAP     Document 129-4      Filed 12/23/2008     Page 22 of 43



Case 1:07-cv-05435-LAP     Document 129-4      Filed 12/23/2008     Page 23 of 43



Case 1:07-cv-05435-LAP     Document 129-4      Filed 12/23/2008     Page 24 of 43



Case 1:07-cv-05435-LAP     Document 129-4      Filed 12/23/2008     Page 25 of 43



Case 1:07-cv-05435-LAP     Document 129-4      Filed 12/23/2008     Page 26 of 43



Case 1:07-cv-05435-LAP     Document 129-4      Filed 12/23/2008     Page 27 of 43



Case 1:07-cv-05435-LAP     Document 129-4      Filed 12/23/2008     Page 28 of 43



Case 1:07-cv-05435-LAP     Document 129-4      Filed 12/23/2008     Page 29 of 43



Case 1:07-cv-05435-LAP     Document 129-4      Filed 12/23/2008     Page 30 of 43



Case 1:07-cv-05435-LAP     Document 129-4      Filed 12/23/2008     Page 31 of 43



Case 1:07-cv-05435-LAP     Document 129-4      Filed 12/23/2008     Page 32 of 43



Case 1:07-cv-05435-LAP     Document 129-4      Filed 12/23/2008     Page 33 of 43



Case 1:07-cv-05435-LAP     Document 129-4      Filed 12/23/2008     Page 34 of 43



Case 1:07-cv-05435-LAP     Document 129-4      Filed 12/23/2008     Page 35 of 43



Case 1:07-cv-05435-LAP     Document 129-4      Filed 12/23/2008     Page 36 of 43



Case 1:07-cv-05435-LAP     Document 129-4      Filed 12/23/2008     Page 37 of 43



Case 1:07-cv-05435-LAP     Document 129-4      Filed 12/23/2008     Page 38 of 43



Case 1:07-cv-05435-LAP     Document 129-4      Filed 12/23/2008     Page 39 of 43



Case 1:07-cv-05435-LAP     Document 129-4      Filed 12/23/2008     Page 40 of 43



Case 1:07-cv-05435-LAP     Document 129-4      Filed 12/23/2008     Page 41 of 43



Case 1:07-cv-05435-LAP     Document 129-4      Filed 12/23/2008     Page 42 of 43



Case 1:07-cv-05435-LAP     Document 129-4      Filed 12/23/2008     Page 43 of 43



Case 1:07-cv-05435-LAP     Document 129-5      Filed 12/23/2008     Page 1 of 4



Case 1:07-cv-05435-LAP     Document 129-5      Filed 12/23/2008     Page 2 of 4



Case 1:07-cv-05435-LAP     Document 129-5      Filed 12/23/2008     Page 3 of 4



Case 1:07-cv-05435-LAP     Document 129-5      Filed 12/23/2008     Page 4 of 4



 
CIA's Harsh Interrogation Techniques Described 

Sources Say Agency's Tactics Lead to Questionable Confessions, 
Sometimes to Death 

By BRIAN ROSS and RICHARD ESPOSITO 

Nov. 18, 2005 —  

Harsh interrogation techniques authorized by top officials of the CIA have led to 
questionable confessions and the death of a detainee since the techniques were first 
authorized in mid-March 2002, ABC News has been told by former and current 
intelligence officers and supervisors.  

They say they are revealing specific details of the techniques, and their impact on 
confessions, because the public needs to know the direction their agency has chosen. All 
gave their accounts on the condition that their names and identities not be revealed. 
Portions of their accounts are corrobrated by public statements of former CIA officers 
and by reports recently published that cite a classified CIA Inspector General's report.  

Other portions of their accounts echo the accounts of escaped prisoners from one CIA 
prison in Afghanistan.  

"They would not let you rest, day or night. Stand up, sit down, stand up, sit down. Don't 
sleep. Don't lie on the floor," one prisoner said through a translator. The detainees were 
also forced to listen to rap artist Eminem's "Slim Shady" album. The music was so 
foreign to them it made them frantic, sources said.  

Contacted after the completion of the ABC News investigation, CIA officials would 
neither confirm nor deny the accounts. They simply declined to comment.  

The CIA sources described a list of six "Enhanced Interrogation Techniques" instituted in 
mid-March 2002 and used, they said, on a dozen top al Qaeda targets incarcerated in 
isolation at secret locations on military bases in regions from Asia to Eastern Europe. 
According to the sources, only a handful of CIA interrogators are trained and authorized 
to use the techniques:  

1. The Attention Grab: The interrogator forcefully grabs the shirt front of the prisoner 
and shakes him.  

2. Attention Slap: An open-handed slap aimed at causing pain and triggering fear.  
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3. The Belly Slap: A hard open-handed slap to the stomach. The aim is to cause pain, but 
not internal injury. Doctors consulted advised against using a punch, which could cause 
lasting internal damage.  

4. Long Time Standing: This technique is described as among the most effective. 
Prisoners are forced to stand, handcuffed and with their feet shackled to an eye bolt in the 
floor for more than 40 hours. Exhaustion and sleep deprivation are effective in yielding 
confessions.  

5. The Cold Cell: The prisoner is left to stand naked in a cell kept near 50 degrees. 
Throughout the time in the cell the prisoner is doused with cold water.  

6. Water Boarding: The prisoner is bound to an inclined board, feet raised and head 
slightly below the feet. Cellophane is wrapped over the prisoner's face and water is 
poured over him. Unavoidably, the gag reflex kicks in and a terrifying fear of drowning 
leads to almost instant pleas to bring the treatment to a halt.  

According to the sources, CIA officers who subjected themselves to the water boarding 
technique lasted an average of 14 seconds before caving in. They said al Qaeda's toughest 
prisoner, Khalid Sheik Mohammed, won the admiration of interrogators when he was 
able to last between two and two-and-a-half minutes before begging to confess.  

"The person believes they are being killed, and as such, it really amounts to a mock 
execution, which is illegal under international law," said John Sifton of Human Rights 
Watch.  

The techniques are controversial among experienced intelligence agency and military 
interrogators. Many feel that a confession obtained this way is an unreliable tool. Two 
experienced officers have told ABC that there is little to be gained by these techniques 
that could not be more effectively gained by a methodical, careful, psychologically based 
interrogation. According to a classified report prepared by the CIA Inspector General 
John Helgerwon and issued in 2004, the techniques "appeared to constitute cruel, and 
degrading treatment under the (Geneva) convention," the New York Times reported on 
Nov. 9, 2005.  

It is "bad interrogation. I mean you can get anyone to confess to anything if the torture's 
bad enough," said former CIA officer Bob Baer.  

Larry Johnson, a former CIA officer and a deputy director of the State Department's 
office of counterterrorism, recently wrote in the Los Angeles Times, "What real CIA field 
officers know firsthand is that it is better to build a relationship of trust & than to extract 
quick confessions through tactics such as those used by the Nazis and the Soviets."  

One argument in favor of their use: time. In the early days of al Qaeda captures, it was 
hoped that speeding confessions would result in the development of important 
operational knowledge in a timely fashion.  

Case 1:07-cv-05435-LAP     Document 129-6      Filed 12/23/2008     Page 2 of 5



However, ABC News was told that at least three CIA officers declined to be trained in 
the techniques before a cadre of 14 were selected to use them on a dozen top al Qaeda 
suspects in order to obtain critical information. In at least one instance, ABC News was 
told that the techniques led to questionable information aimed at pleasing the 
interrogators and that this information had a significant impact on U.S. actions in Iraq.  

According to CIA sources, Ibn al Shaykh al Libbi, after two weeks of enhanced 
interrogation, made statements that were designed to tell the interrogators what they 
wanted to hear. Sources say Al Libbi had been subjected to each of the progressively 
harsher techniques in turn and finally broke after being water boarded and then left to 
stand naked in his cold cell overnight where he was doused with cold water at regular 
intervals.  

His statements became part of the basis for the Bush administration claims that Iraq 
trained al Qaeda members to use biochemical weapons. Sources tell ABC that it was later 
established that al Libbi had no knowledge of such training or weapons and fabricated the 
statements because he was terrified of further harsh treatment.  

"This is the problem with using the waterboard. They get so desperate that they begin 
telling you what they think you want to hear," one source said.  

However, sources said, al Libbi does not appear to have sought to intentionally 
misinform investigators, as at least one account has stated. The distinction in this murky 
world is nonetheless an important one. Al Libbi sought to please his investigators, not 
lead them down a false path, two sources with firsthand knowledge of the statements 
said.  

When properly used, the techniques appear to be closely monitored and are signed off on 
in writing on a case-by-case, technique-by-technique basis, according to highly placed 
current and former intelligence officers involved in the program. In this way, they say, 
enhanced interrogations have been authorized for about a dozen high value al Qaeda 
targets -- Khalid Sheik Mohammed among them. According to the sources, all of these 
have confessed, none of them has died, and all of them remain incarcerated.  

While some media accounts have described the locations where these detainees are 
located as a string of secret CIA prisons -- a gulag, as it were -- in fact, sources say, there 
are a very limited number of these locations in use at any time, and most often they 
consist of a secure building on an existing or former military base. In addition, they say, 
the prisoners usually are not scattered but travel together to these locations, so that 
information can be extracted from one and compared with others. Currently, it is believed 
that one or more former Soviet bloc air bases and military installations are the Eastern 
European location of the top suspects. Khalid Sheik Mohammed is among the suspects 
detained there, sources said.  

The sources told ABC that the techniques, while progressively aggressive, are not 
deemed torture, and the debate among intelligence officers as to whether they are 

Case 1:07-cv-05435-LAP     Document 129-6      Filed 12/23/2008     Page 3 of 5



effective should not be underestimated. There are many who feel these techniques, 
properly supervised, are both valid and necessary, the sources said. While harsh, they say, 
they are not torture and are reserved only for the most important and most difficult 
prisoners.  

According to the sources, when an interrogator wishes to use a particular technique on a 
prisoner, the policy at the CIA is that each step of the interrogation process must be 
signed off at the highest level -- by the deputy director for operations for the CIA. A 
cable must be sent and a reply received each time a progressively harsher technique is 
used. The described oversight appears tough but critics say it could be tougher. In reality, 
sources said, there are few known instances when an approval has not been granted. Still, 
even the toughest critics of the techniques say they are relatively well monitored and 
limited in use.  

Two sources also told ABC that the techniques -- authorized for use by only a handful of 
trained CIA officers -- have been misapplied in at least one instance.  

The sources said that in that case a young, untrained junior officer caused the death of 
one detainee at a mud fort dubbed the "salt pit" that is used as a prison. They say the 
death occurred when the prisoner was left to stand naked throughout the harsh 
Afghanistan night after being doused with cold water. He died, they say, of hypothermia.  

According to the sources, a second CIA detainee died in Iraq and a third detainee died 
following harsh interrogation by Department of Defense personnel and contractors in 
Iraq. CIA sources said that in the DOD case, the interrogation was harsh, but did not 
involve the CIA.  

The Kabul fort has also been the subject of confusion. Several intelligence sources 
involved in both the enhanced interrogation program and the program to ship detainees 
back to their own country for interrogation -- a process described as rendition, say that 
the number of detainees in each program has been added together to suggest as many as 
100 detainees are moved around the world from one secret CIA facility to another. In the 
rendition program, foreign nationals captured in the conflict zones are shipped back to 
their own countries on occasion for interrogation and prosecution.  

There have been several dozen instances of rendition. There have been a little over a 
dozen authorized enhanced interrogations. As a result, the enhanced interrogation 
program has been described as one encompassing 100 or more prisoners. Multiple CIA 
sources told ABC that it is not. The renditions have also been described as illegal. They 
are not, our sources said, although they acknowledge the procedures are in an ethical gray 
area and are at times used for the convenience of extracting information under harsher 
conditions that the U.S. would allow.  

ABC was told that several dozen renditions of this kind have occurred. Jordan is one 
country recently cited as an "emerging" center for renditions, according to published 
reports. The ABC sources said that rendition of this sort are legal and should not be 
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confused with illegal "snatches" of targets off the streets of a home country by officers of 
yet another country. The United States is currently charged with such an illegal rendition 
in Italy. Israel and at least one European nation have also been accused of such 
renditions.  

Copyright © 2008 ABC News Internet Ventures 
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ABC NEWS  

"CIA - ABU ZUBAYDAH" 

INTERVIEW WITH JOHN KIRIAKOU 

CORRESPONDENT:  BRIAN ROSS 

 

MEDIA ID:  TAPE #1 

  (OFF-MIC CONVERSATION) 

  BRIAN ROSS: 

 John, you were involved in the capture of Abu 

Zubaydah? 

  JOHN: 

 I was. 

  BRIAN ROSS: 

 And tell me about that, how it happened. 

  JOHN: 

 It was quite a long process.  We had information 

that Abu Zubaydah was somewhere in Pakistan-- in 

either Fice (PH) Labodd (PH) or Lahore (PH).  And 

we undertook a-- a week's long, month long-- 

investigation.  We were able to narrow his 

location down to more than a dozen possibilities.  

And working with the Pakistani government and 
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with the FBI, we-- we raided each one of those 

sites and found him in one of the-- in one of the 

houses. 

  BRIAN ROSS: 

 And how were you able to focus in on where he 

was? 

  JOHN: 

 It was very difficult.  But it was-- it was 

really a combination of-- of things.  It was-- it 

was a wide variety of sources reporting on 

possibilities of where either he might be located 

or where-- others might be located who would know 

of his whereabouts. 

 

 We decided not to take the chance and-- and just 

hit one or two sites, fearing that-- word would 

get back to him, and he'd have a chance to-- to 

run off and-- and go deeper underground.  So we 

elected to hit all the sites at the same time at-

- the same night.  And we're lucky enough that he 

was in one of them. 
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  BRIAN ROSS: 

 And how many-- people did that involve?  A big 

operation-- 

  JOHN: 

 Yeah.  Just on the American side it was about-- 

three dozen people.  There were a lot of-- there 

were a lot of heroes that night.  People worked 

hard and worked closely together.  And it worked. 

  BRIAN ROSS: 

 And why were you-- focused on him? 

  JOHN: 

 We were told at the time, well, we had a lot of 

information Abu Zubaydah going back into the 

'90s.  He was one of the financiers of the 

September 11th attacks.  He was a-- a logistics 

chief-- of al Qaeda.  And we knew that he was 

close to bin Laden, although not co-located 

obviously.  We know that-- or we knew at the time 

that he had a line to bin Laden.  And we thought 

that if we could capture him it would deal a 

significant blow to the al Qaeda leadership. 
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  BRIAN ROSS: 

 And he was in Pakistan. 

  JOHN: 

 He was in Fice Labad, Pakistan.  Correct. 

  BRIAN ROSS: 

 And how long had he been there? 

  JOHN: 

 We're not sure.  It-- it seemed to us-- he 

admitted to having been there a week.  We thought 

he was probably there more like two or three 

weeks. 

  BRIAN ROSS: 

 And when was this? 

  JOHN: 

 This was in March of 2002. 

  BRIAN ROSS: 

 So you'd been looking for him since September 

11th essentially or-- 

  JOHN: 

 We had.  We had indeed. 

  BRIAN ROSS: 

 And-- when-- when the catch was made, when you 
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caught up with him, you hit the right place, what 

happened there?  Did he resist? 

  JOHN: 

 He resisted.  There was a shootout.  The 

Pakistanis were the first-- inside the door.  And 

he stabbed a Pakistani policeman in the neck.  We 

feared at the time that he-- that he had died.  

Things were happening so quickly, it was 

confusing.  And-- the Pakistani authorities told 

us initially that the man had died. 

 

 He turned out to just have been wounded.  But 

then Abu Zubaydah-- went up to the roof of his 

house and tried to jump to the roof of the 

neighboring house.  He exchanged in a-- in a gun 

battle with the Pakistani police down below, and 

he was shot three times.  And then dropped from 

the roof of the house onto the ground.  He was 

almost killed.  And later that night one of the 

doctors, the Pakistani doctors who was treating 

him, told me that he had never seen wounds so 

severe where the patient had lived. 
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  BRIAN ROSS: 

 And what happened to him after you caught up with 

him (UNINTEL) 

  JOHN: 

 Well, we took him to a hospital for-- for 

emergency-- treatment.  The hospital in Fice 

Labad was-- was just a-- a terrible place.  So we 

evacuated him to a military hospital in Lahore.  

And-- the Director of Central Intelligence, 

George Tenet, immediately got on the phone to 

Johns Hopkins University and asked if they could 

send a trauma surgeon to Pakistani.  So that 

trauma surgeon got on a plane, a private plane, 

flew directly to the base.  And-- I guess it was 

about 24 hours after the shooting-- he was able 

to begin treating Abu Zubaydah. 

  BRIAN ROSS: 

 And what was the nature of his wounds? 

  JOHN: 

 He was shot in the thigh, the groin, and the 

stomach with an AK-47. 
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  BRIAN ROSS: 

 And barely survived. 

  JOHN: 

 Barely survived.  One of the things that sticks 

in my mind-- from those-- those days and nights 

was how much blood he lost.  There was blood 

everywhere.  It was all over him.  It was all 

over the bed.  It pooled underneath the bed.  It 

was all over us every time we had to move him.  

It was really an incredible amount of blood that 

he lost. 

  BRIAN ROSS: 

 And after you captured him what was your security 

like to keep him under-- lock and key? 

  JOHN: 

 (LAUGHS) The security was I tore up a sheet and 

tied him to the bed. 

  BRIAN ROSS: 

 You did? 

  JOHN: 

 Yeah.  That was about all we could do in those 

initial hours.  The idea was we wanted to get him 
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to a-- to a place where he would be safe, where 

he could recover from his wounds, and where we 

could begin interviewing him.  But-- the idea 

was-- just to keep everybody not with us or his 

medical team away from him.  And that's what we 

did.  There was a group of nurses.  And he had 

the Pakistani military doctor-- doing everything 

he could to help him.  But otherwise it was me, 

and it was a small group of-- of CIA and FBI 

people who just kept 24/7 eyes on him. 

  BRIAN ROSS: 

 So you were in the room that whole time. 

  JOHN: 

 Yeah.  In fact, I was the first person that spoke 

to him when he came out of his coma. 

  BRIAN ROSS: 

 And what'd you say? 

  JOHN: 

 He asked me-- well, first I went up to him, and 

I-- I asked him in Arabic what his name was.  And 

he shook his head.  And I asked him again in 

Arabic.  And then he answered me in English.  And 
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he said that he would not speak to me in God's 

language.  And then I said, "That's okay.  We 

know who you are." 

 

 And then he asked me to smother him with a 

pillow.  And I said, "No, no.  We have-- we have 

plans for you."  And I encouraged him from the 

very beginning to cooperate and to tell us what 

he knew.  Frankly there were lives at stake.  And 

we knew that he was the biggest fish that we had 

caught.  We knew he was full of information. 

 

 And-- and we wanted to get it.  One of the 

reasons why it was of such-- importance to us 

that night is the room where-- where he was when 

the raid began had a table in it.  And on the 

table Abu Zubaydah and two other men were 

building a bomb.  The soldering arm was still 

hot.  And they had the plans for-- for a school 

on the table.  So we knew that there were-- 

immediate threats that he could-- he could help 

us with. 
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  BRIAN ROSS: 

 A school where? 

  JOHN: 

 In Lahore.  In Lahore, Pakistan. 

  BRIAN ROSS: 

 A Pakistani school. 

  JOHN: 

 We think it was the American school.  Or the 

British school I guess it was.  Not the American 

school. 

  BRIAN ROSS: 

 So you felt that he was-- he was very current.  

He knew what was going on. 

  JOHN: 

 Very current.  On top of-- of the current threat 

information he-- he was so well tied into the al 

Qaeda leadership, and he was-- he was highly 

thought of in al Qaeda, and he was very, very 

good at logistics, that we knew that he knew 

everybody who was worth knowing in al Qaeda.  He 

knew cell leaders. 
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 He knew logistics people.  He knew finance 

people.  We knew that he was really one of the 

intellectual leaders of the group. 

  BRIAN ROSS: 

 And when you began to speak with him then did 

you-- revert to Arabic? 

  JOHN: 

 No.  He would never speak to me in Arabic.  And 

frankly he was very polite about it.  We never 

exchanged a harsh word.  He was a-- he was an 

interesting person to sit and have a conversation 

with.  But he would never speak to me in Arabic.  

And his English was quite good. 

  BRIAN ROSS: 

 (UNINTEL) 

  JOHN: 

 It was fluent. 

  BRIAN ROSS: 

 He was fluent in English. 

  JOHN: 

 He was. 
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  BRIAN ROSS: 

 And what was his demeanor? 

  JOHN: 

 He was a very-- (LAUGHS) it's-- it's funny to 

have to say it like this.  But he was a very 

friendly guy.  Later on he did things like he 

wrote poetry.  Or he would debate-- the merits of 

Islam.  Or he would wanna talk about the 

differences or similarities between Islam and 

Christianity. 

 

 He wanted to talk about current events.  He-- he 

told us a couple of times that he had nothing 

personal, there was nothing personal against the 

United States.  It was Israel that he wanted to 

fight.  And that the United States was close to 

Israel.  And we had been caught up in whatever it 

was that-- that bothered him.  And-- he-- he-- he 

regretted having to help plan attacks against 

Americans.  But because these were, in the end, 

attacks against Jews and Israelis, it was 

something that he felt he had to do. 
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  BRIAN ROSS: 

 So there was no attempt on his part to deny 

involvement? 

  JOHN: 

 Oh, no, not at all.  Not at all.  He was quite 

open. 

  BRIAN ROSS: 

 And did he talk about 9/11? 

  JOHN: 

 Yeah.  He said that-- that 9/11 was necessary.  

That although he didn't think that-- there would 

be such a massive loss of life, his view was that 

9/11th-- 9/11, rather, was supposed to be a wake-

up call-- to the United States.  It wasn't 

supposed to be something that so shook the United 

States that it led the US to attack-- al Qaeda's 

bases in Afghanistan. 

 

 In previous attacks, the USS Cole, the embassy 

bombings in-- in East Africa, the US government 

responded with missile strikes against alleged al 

Qaeda sites.  And they truly believed that that's 
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how we were gonna respond to September 11th.  

They didn't think that there would be an all-out 

attack. 

  BRIAN ROSS: 

 So they didn't anticipate the death toll being 

so-- large? 

  JOHN: 

 They didn't.  They didn't think the buildings 

would collapse. 

  BRIAN ROSS: 

 And-- 

  JOHN: 

 That's been told me. 

  BRIAN ROSS: 

 As you began to talk to him-- was time of the 

essence?  Did you feel you had to get him to 

talk? 

  JOHN: 

 Yes.  Because in the beginning, while, like I 

say, he was friendly-- and he was willing to talk 

about philosophy, he was unwilling to give us 

any-- any actionable intelligence. 
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  BRIAN ROSS: 

 And what in your mind was your way you were gonna 

get him to give that up? 

  JOHN: 

 We had a group of folks-- at the agency who were 

trained in-- what had been reported in the press, 

we called enhanced techniques.  I came back to 

the-- to the United States to headquarters to 

move onto a different job.  But we had these 

trained interrogators who were sent to his 

location-- to use the enhanced techniques as 

necessary to get him to open up-- and to report 

some threat information. 

  BRIAN ROSS: 

 And can you describe them? 

  JOHN: 

 In-- in generalities.  I suppose I can say that-- 

that my understanding is that what's been 

reported in the press-- has been correct in that 

these enhanced techniques included everything 

from-- what was called an attention shake where 

you grab the person by their lapels and shape 
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them.  All the way up to the other end, which was 

water boarding. 

  BRIAN ROSS: 

 And that was one of the techniques. 

  JOHN: 

 Water boarding was one of the techniques, yes. 

  BRIAN ROSS: 

 And was it used on Zubaydah? 

  JOHN: 

 It was. 

  BRIAN ROSS: 

 And was it successful? 

  JOHN: 

 It was. 

  BRIAN ROSS: 

 What happened as a result of that? 

  JOHN: 

 He resisted.  He was able to withstand the water 

boarding for quite some time.  And by that I mean 

probably 30, 35 seconds-- 

  BRIAN ROSS: 

 That's quite some time. 
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  JOHN: 

 --which was quite some time.  And a short time 

afterwards, in the next day or so, he told his 

interrogator that Allah had visit him in his cell 

during the night and told him to cooperate 

because his cooperation would make it easier on 

the other brothers who had been captured.  And 

from that day on he answered every question just 

like I'm sitting here speaking to you. 

  BRIAN ROSS: 

 And a willing way? 

  JOHN: 

 In a willing way. 

  BRIAN ROSS: 

 So in your view the water boarding broke him. 

  JOHN: 

 I think it did, yes. 

  BRIAN ROSS: 

 And did it make a difference in terms of-- 

  JOHN: 

 It did.  The threat information that he provided 

disrupted a number of attacks, maybe dozens of 

Intv John Kiriakou ABC (tape1).doc 

Case 1:07-cv-05435-LAP     Document 129-7      Filed 12/23/2008     Page 17 of 49



MEDIA ID:  TAPE #1 Pg.18 

attacks. 

  BRIAN ROSS: 

 No doubt about that?  That's not some-- 

  JOHN: 

 No doubt. 

  BRIAN ROSS: 

 --hype? 

  JOHN: 

 No, no question.  No question.  The reporting-- I 

remember reading the reporting, and it was 

dramatic when it first started coming in.  Now, 

of course, a lot of that was time-sensitive.  So 

after a period of time he wasn't to-- to provide 

any real actionable information, any information 

that you could use to disrupt an attack. 

 

 But what he was able to provide was information 

on the al Qaeda leadership.  For example-- if bin 

Laden were to do X-- who would be the person to 

undertake such a-- such an operation?  "Oh, 

logically that would be Mr. Y."  And we were able 

to use that information to kind of get an idea of 
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how al Qaeda operated, how it came about 

conceptualizing its operations, and-- and how it 

went about tasking different cells with carrying 

out operations. 

  BRIAN ROSS: 

 And in terms of the actual planned future 

attacks? 

  JOHN: 

 Yeah, we disrupted a lot of them. 

  BRIAN ROSS: 

 And he knew about them? 

  JOHN: 

 He knew about some.  But like I say, it was time-

sensitive information.  So that-- that wound down 

over time. 

  BRIAN ROSS: 

 And the ones that he knew about, were they on US 

soil?  Were they in Pakistan? 

  JOHN: 

 You know, I was out of it by then.  I had moved 

onto a new job.  And I-- I don't recall.  To the 

best of my recollection, no, they weren't on US 

Intv John Kiriakou ABC (tape1).doc 

Case 1:07-cv-05435-LAP     Document 129-7      Filed 12/23/2008     Page 19 of 49



MEDIA ID:  TAPE #1 Pg.20 

soil.  They were overseas. 

  BRIAN ROSS: 

 The fact that the-- interrogation techniques had 

to go all the way to water boarding, that meant 

he resisted the steps on the way to that?  We've 

reported-- 

  JOHN: 

 Yes. 

  BRIAN ROSS: 

 --the attention slap-- 

  JOHN: 

 Yes. 

  BRIAN ROSS: 

 --sleep deprivation? 

  JOHN: 

 Correct.  And I should add too that it wasn't up 

to individual interrogators to decide, "Well, I'm 

gonna slap him.  Or I'm going to shake him.  Or 

I'm gonna make him stay up for 48 hours."  Each 

one of these steps, even though they're minor 

steps, like the intention shake-- or the open-

handed belly slap, each one of these had to have 
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the approval of the Deputy Director for 

Operations. 

 

 So before you laid a hand on him, you had to send 

in the cable saying, "He's uncooperative.  

Request permission to do X."  And that permission 

would come.  "You're allowed to him one time in 

the belly with an open hand." 

  BRIAN ROSS: 

 It was that specific. 

  JOHN: 

 It was that specific. 

  BRIAN ROSS: 

 Cable traffic back and forth. 

  JOHN: 

 The cable traffic back and forth was extremely 

specific.  And the bottom line was these were 

very unusual authorities that the agency got 

after 9/11.  No one wanted to mess them up.  No 

one wanted to get in trouble by going overboard.  

So it was extremely deliberate. 
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 No one wanted to be the guy that accidentally did 

lasting damage to a prisoner.  Or did something 

to a prisoner without authorization.  It was very 

clear from the beginning that this had to be done 

within the rules. 

  BRIAN ROSS: 

 Was there concern that it might kill him? 

  JOHN: 

 No.  No.  There was a doctor there.  And none of 

these-- none of these techniques, including water 

boarding, was life-threatening.  An open-handed 

slap to the belly or to the cheek-- wasn't going 

to-- wasn't gonna kill him. 

  BRIAN ROSS: 

 Was there concern that-- the techniques would 

result in false confessions?  He would just say 

something? 

  JOHN: 

 Oh, there was always that concern. 

  BRIAN ROSS: 

 And how do you guard against that? 
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  JOHN: 

 Well, the only way that you really can at least 

partially guard against that is to not do these 

things regularly.  That's why so few people were-

- were water boarded.  I think the agency has 

said that two people were water boarded, Abu 

Zubaydah being one.  And it's because you really 

wanted it to be a last resort.  Because we didn't 

want these false confessions.  We didn't want 

wild goose chases. 

 

 One of the things that we were able to do after a 

while so that you wouldn't have to water board 

people is in the beginning these prisoners were 

kept isolated from one another.  And one didn't 

know that the other had been captured.  So 

walking one past another's cell and just allowing 

them to catch a glimpse of one another was enough 

to shake them up-- enough that they-- that they 

would begin cooperating without you having to use 

any of these enhanced techniques. 

Intv John Kiriakou ABC (tape1).doc 

Case 1:07-cv-05435-LAP     Document 129-7      Filed 12/23/2008     Page 23 of 49



MEDIA ID:  TAPE #1 Pg.24 

  BRIAN ROSS: 

 Just to see that one of his colleagues had been 

caught. 

  JOHN: 

 That's right.  And if you allow them to believe 

that, look, you've lost.  The good guys won.  

You're all in jail.  That was enough to really 

turn the tables. 

  BRIAN ROSS: 

 In the case of Abu Zubaydah did you feel that he 

was broken emotionally?  That he had felt he'd 

lost the battle? 

  JOHN: 

 Yes.  Yes, I think he did feel that way.  And in 

the end it's funny.  A-- a-- a former colleague 

of mine asked him during the conversation one 

day, "What would you do if we decided to let you 

go one day?"  And he said, "I would kill every 

American and Jew I could get my hands on."  And 

he said, "It's nothing personal.  You're a nice 

guy.  But this is who I am." 
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  BRIAN ROSS: 

 Did you feel comfortable with the techniques? 

  JOHN: 

 Frankly, no.  And I elected to-- to forego the 

training.  I was asked if I wanted to be trained 

in the enhanced techniques.  And I sought the 

counsel of a senior agency officer who's still an 

agency officer.  And I said, "What would you do 

in my situation?"  And he said, "Frankly, I think 

it's a slippery slope.  An accident's gonna 

happen.  And-- I wouldn't do it."  And so I 

declined. 

  BRIAN ROSS: 

 So you did not go through the training? 

  JOHN: 

 I did not. 

  BRIAN ROSS: 

 Have you seen water boarding? 

  JOHN: 

 We water boarded each other in the beginning to 

see what it felt like.  And it's a-- it's a 

wholly unpleasant experience. 
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  BRIAN ROSS: 

 What is it like? 

  JOHN: 

 You feel like you're choking or drowning. 

  BRIAN ROSS: 

 And are you literally upside down?  Or-- 

  JOHN: 

 You're on your back with-- your feet at a slight 

incline.  There's some cellophane or material 

over your mouth.  And then they pour water on 

this cellophane.  You can't breathe.  And it 

feels like the water's going down your throat.  

And then you begin choking it.  It-- induces the 

gag reflex. 

  BRIAN ROSS: 

 But the water's not actually going into your 

mouth? 

  JOHN: 

 No. 

  BRIAN ROSS: 

 Or through your nostrils? 
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  JOHN: 

 No. 

  BRIAN ROSS: 

 (UNINTEL) 

  JOHN: 

 It just feels like it is. 

  BRIAN ROSS: 

 It feels like it is 'cause of the pressure onto 

the-- onto the cellophane. 

  JOHN: 

 Correct. 

  BRIAN ROSS: 

 Like a Saran wrap kind of thing. 

  JOHN: 

 That's right. 

  BRIAN ROSS: 

 And how long did you last? 

  JOHN: 

 (LAUGHS) About five seconds. (LAUGHS) 

  BRIAN ROSS: 

 (UNINTEL) Is-- would you-- 
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  JOHN: 

 Yeah. 

  BRIAN ROSS: 

 --call it torture? 

  JOHN: 

 You know, at the time, no.  At the time I thought 

this was something that we-- we really needed to 

do.  I had heard stories of-- of captured German 

prisoners from the Second World War playing chess 

with their interrogators.  And over the course of 

many weeks and months of playing chess they 

develop a rapport, and the German ended up giving 

information.  Al Qaeda is not like a World War 

Two German POW.  It's a different world. 

 

 These guys hate us more than they love life.  And 

so they're not-- you're not gonna convince them 

that because you're a nice guy and they can trust 

you and they have a rapport with you that they're 

going to confess and-- and give you their 

operations.  It's-- it's different.  It's a 

different world. 
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  BRIAN ROSS: 

 You're not-- you're not gonna be able to slowly 

seduce them to talk? 

  JOHN: 

 Not these guys.  And at the time I-- I felt that 

water boarding was something that we needed to 

do.  And as time has passed, and has-- as 

September 11th has-- has, you know, has moved 

farther and farther back into history-- I think 

I've changed my mind.  And I think that-- water 

boarding is probably something that we shouldn't 

be in the business of doing. 

  BRIAN ROSS: 

 Why do you say that now? 

  JOHN: 

 Because we're Americans, and we're better than 

that. 

  BRIAN ROSS: 

 But at the time you didn't feel that way. 

  JOHN: 

 At the time I was so angry.  And I wanted so much 

to help disrupt future attacks on the United 
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States that I felt it was the only thing we could 

do. 

  BRIAN ROSS: 

 And with Zubaydah you think that was successful. 

  JOHN: 

 It was. 

  BRIAN ROSS: 

 And we have reported that Kaleed (PH) Shiek 

Muhammad was also water boarded. 

  JOHN: 

 I was out of it by then.  But it's my 

understanding that he was-- that he was also 

water boarded. 

  BRIAN ROSS: 

 But those are really the only two. 

  JOHN: 

 To the best of my knowledge, yes. 

  BRIAN ROSS: 

 And bottom line as you sit here now do you think 

that was worth it? 

  JOHN: 

 Yes. 
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  BRIAN ROSS: 

 Did it compromise American principles?  Or did it 

save American lives?  Or both? 

  JOHN: 

 It-- it-- I think both.  It may have compromised 

our principles at least in the short term.  And I 

think it's good that we're having a national 

debate about this.  We should be debating this.  

And Congress should be talking about it.  Because 

I think as a country we have to decide if this is 

something that we wanna do as a matter of policy.  

I'm not saying now that we should.  But at the 

very least we should be talking about it.  It 

shouldn't be secret.  It should be out there as 

part of the national debate. 

  BRIAN ROSS: 

 It's been revealed now that the CIA had tapes of 

the interrogation underway.  Were you involved in 

the taping process? 

  JOHN: 

 No.  In fact, I first learned about it in the 

press yesterday. 
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  BRIAN ROSS: 

 Do-- you were not-- you did not see cameras? 

  JOHN: 

 We had cameras everywhere.  But it was our 

understanding at the time that they were closed 

circuit cameras so that other interrogators and 

medical personnel and security officers could 

watch the interviews-- taking place. 

  BRIAN ROSS: 

 You didn't see it being recorded anywhere? 

  JOHN: 

 No.  No, I never saw it being recorded. 

  BRIAN ROSS: 

 And now that you know it was recorded and the 

tapes were destroyed afterwards what do you make 

of that? 

  JOHN: 

 I'm disappointed frankly.  I understand that the 

agency's explanation was they wanted to make sure 

that everything was being done legally and within 

the-- the guidelines that-- that the organization 

had set forth.  But it makes me wonder instead if 
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they simply didn't trust the interrogators.  And 

if they wanted to catch somebody doing something 

that was unauthorized.  So frankly, I'm a little 

disappointed that they didn't have that trust in 

us having already been polygraphed, having 

undergone-- not me, but other interrogators 

having undergone-- the training, they still 

didn't trust us enough to-- to let us just do-- 

do our jobs. 

  BRIAN ROSS: 

 You never saw tapes coming out of the machine or-

- 

  JOHN: 

 No. 

  BRIAN ROSS: 

 --being sent off to Washington? 

  JOHN: 

 No, never saw tapes. 

  BRIAN ROSS: 

 And never reviewed them when you were back in 

Washington? 
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  JOHN: 

 No, never heard about them even. 

  BRIAN ROSS: 

 Really?  So they were very closely held. 

  JOHN: 

 Very closely held. 

  BRIAN ROSS: 

 Should they have been destroyed do you think? 

  JOHN: 

 I think not.  I think they're a matter of-- of 

historical record at least within the agency.  

They may have-- some legal import.  And they 

probably should not have been destroyed. 

  BRIAN ROSS: 

 If we were able to look at those tapes of Abu 

Zubaydah what would we see? 

  JOHN: 

 I think you'll see a lot of very long and very 

boring conversations about the minutiae 

surrounding the leadership of al Qaeda.  I think 

you'll see a couple of incidents where-- at least 

in the beginning where he was-- very tough.  And-

Intv John Kiriakou ABC (tape1).doc 

Case 1:07-cv-05435-LAP     Document 129-7      Filed 12/23/2008     Page 34 of 49



MEDIA ID:  TAPE #1 Pg.35 

- uncooperative.  And then the rest of it I think 

you'll see just a lot of open conversations. 

  BRIAN ROSS: 

 Will you see him being slapped? 

  JOHN: 

 You know, I have no idea if that kind of thing 

was-- was taped.  I would assume that it was.  So 

you might-- you might see something like that. 

  BRIAN ROSS: 

 If they taped the enhanced interrogation we would 

see what? 

  JOHN: 

 Oh, an open-handed belly slap maybe.  Or somebody 

who's very tired because he's been up for 48 

hours and not allowed to sit down.  But not much 

more than that. 

  BRIAN ROSS: 

 Kept him standing for 48 hours? 

  JOHN: 

 Uh-huh (AFFIRM) 

  BRIAN ROSS: 

 And do you suppose they taped the water boarding? 
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  JOHN: 

 Gosh-- you-- I honestly don't know.  I don't 

know. 

  BRIAN ROSS: 

 If-- the American public was to see somebody, 

even Abu Zubaydah, being water boarded what would 

you guess would-- 

  JOHN: 

 I think it would be objectionable.  It-- it's-- 

it's sort of a violent thing to-- to see or to go 

through.  You may be of, you know, one persuasion 

or the other where you think it's a necessary 

thing or-- or you think it's torture.  But either 

way you dice it-- it-- it's not something that's 

pretty to watch. 

  BRIAN ROSS: 

 How does the body react? 

  JOHN: 

 Violently. 

  BRIAN ROSS: 

 How so? 
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  JOHN: 

 To me it's almost like being shocked.  Where you 

tense up because you wanna-- you wanna wiggle out 

of the way of the water, and you can't, because 

you're strapped down.  And-- and your head is 

immobilized.  And you just have to lay there and 

take it until the interrogator stops pouring 

water on you. 

  BRIAN ROSS: 

 And the water's poured.  And you have a kind of 

gag-- 

  JOHN: 

 Uh-huh (AFFIRM) 

  BRIAN ROSS: 

 And you're just gagging. 

  JOHN: 

 Yes, you're gagging.  Correct. 

  BRIAN ROSS: 

 Shouting?  Or you can't-- can you do it? 

  JOHN: 

 Sure.  Sure. 
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  BRIAN ROSS: 

 And was Zubaydah that was really only 35, 40 

seconds that-- 

  JOHN: 

 Which was remarkable at the time.  Because none 

of us were able to withstand more than ten 

seconds worth, ten or 12 seconds.  He was quite 

tough I recall. 

  BRIAN ROSS: 

 And you think that's what broke him though. 

  JOHN: 

 I do.  I do.  I think he just didn't wanna go 

through it again.  And if the alternative is just 

sitting at the table across from a guy with a 

notepad and answering his questions, it's better 

just to answer the questions. 

  BRIAN ROSS: 

 And he decided to do that. 

  JOHN: 

 Yes. 

  BRIAN ROSS: 

 And was that considered a victory inside the CIA? 
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  JOHN: 

 A big victory.  Because once the information 

started coming in and we were able to corroborate 

it with other sources-- and able to-- to-- 

disrupt other operations, al Qaeda operations or 

terrorist attacks, that was a big victory. 

  BRIAN ROSS: 

 And who else was present at the interrogation? 

  JOHN: 

 There were always several interrogators. 

  BRIAN ROSS: 

 C-- all CIA. 

  JOHN: 

 All CIA.  There was a doctor.  And-- 

  BRIAN ROSS: 

 A CIA doctor? 

  JOHN: 

 CIA doctor.  And then once in a while there would 

be-- a substantive expert, like an analyst who 

was there to ask the questions, somebody who 

really understood the-- the details of what 

needed to be asked, who was there and just 
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happened to be around and asked to-- to stand in. 

  BRIAN ROSS: 

 Were there FBI agents present at all? 

  JOHN: 

 It's my understanding that later on in the 

process, after I had moved on, that FBI agents 

participated as well. 

  BRIAN ROSS: 

 We-- 

  JOHN: 

 Not necessarily in the water boarding.  But in 

the interrogations. 

  BRIAN ROSS: 

 We have reports that-- the Director of the FBI 

instructed the agents not to be involved in any-- 

  JOHN: 

 I-- I'm sure that's true. 

  BRIAN ROSS: 

 --interrogation. 

  JOHN: 

 I'm sure that's true.  Those authorities that 

came from the White House to-- to do the-- the 
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enhanced techniques were solely for the CIA, not 

for the-- not for the FBI.  So it-- it would make 

perfect sense to me that the FBI Director 

wouldn't want FBI personnel around. 

  BRIAN ROSS: 

 And did you know the CIA officers feel without a 

doubt you had the legal right to do what you were 

doing? 

  JOHN: 

 Absolutely.  Absolutely.  I remember-- I remember 

being told when-- the President signed the-- the 

authorities that they had been approved-- not 

just by the National Security Counsel, but by 

the-- but by the Justice Department as well, I 

remember people being surprised that the 

authorities were granted.  And I remember-- one 

of the agency's senior-most leaders saying, "This 

is-- this is an awesome responsibility, that we 

have to act within the confines of the law.  This 

isn't gonna be something that's being done willy-

nilly, that people are gonna be trained in it.  

And we have to follow this to the letter." 
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  BRIAN ROSS: 

 And that was done in what you saw? 

  JOHN: 

 That was done.  Yes.  People were very, very 

concerned at the time about making sure that-- 

that no one overdid it, or no one overstepped 

the-- the legal authorities.  People were very 

concerned. 

  BRIAN ROSS: 

 So when the decision was made to first do the 

slap of Abu Zubaydah the permission for that came 

specifically from Washington? 

  JOHN: 

 Yes.  Absolutely. 

  BRIAN ROSS: 

 That-- 

  JOHN: 

 There was discussion.  It wasn't just a cable 

came in, "Can I slap him?" and the answer is 

"Yes," and the cable goes back out saying, "Yes."  

There was discussion.  "Should we slap him?  

What's to be gained if we slap him?  Is there 
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gonna be any fallout to slapping him?" 

 

 Everybody talks about it.  The Deputy Director 

for Operations says, "Yes, you can slap him."  

The cable goes out.  They slap him.  Send in a 

cable again saying, "We slapped him, and this is 

what happened."  And if that works, great.  If 

that doesn't work, well, maybe we shake him by 

the lapels the next time.  And you go through the 

whole process again. 

  BRIAN ROSS: 

 And it got to the point where you got to sleep 

deprivation.  He was standing up for how long? 

  JOHN: 

 You know, I used that as a an example. 

  BRIAN ROSS: 

 Yeah. 

  JOHN: 

 But I'm-- I'm not sure, to be honest with you, if 

they did the sleep deprivation with him. 

  BRIAN ROSS: 

 I see. 
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  JOHN: 

 I-- I-- I don't specifically remember that being 

used on him.  Although it was one of the enhanced 

techniques.  It's possible.  You know, it's five-

and-a-half years after the fact now.  It's 

possible that-- that that was skipped over in 

favor of water boarding. 

  BRIAN ROSS: 

 So you didn't have to go through every step. 

  JOHN: 

 No. 

  BRIAN ROSS: 

 If there was a time-sensitive you could-- you 

could go right to it. 

  JOHN: 

 That's right. 

  BRIAN ROSS: 

 And when the sleep deprivation was used on 

others-- was that effective? 

  JOHN: 

 It was effective.  It was effective. 
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  BRIAN ROSS: 

 Why-- why is that so effective? 

  JOHN: 

 You know, you may not think about it, but-- but 

exhaustion is-- is a very difficult thing to 

handle.  It's one thing to be tired.  It's 

another thing to be so tired that you begin to 

hallucinate.  And after a while some people just 

can't take it anymore.  And they'll tell you if-- 

"Just give me an hour.  Give me two hours of 

sleep, I'll tell you anything you wanna know." 

  BRIAN ROSS: 

 Really? 

  JOHN: 

 Uh-huh (AFFIRM) 

  BRIAN ROSS: 

 And that's after how long generally? 

  JOHN: 

 I recall the handful of times it was used on 

people it was usually 40 hours plus.  They just 

simply couldn't take it anymore. 
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  BRIAN ROSS: 

 And be standing this whole time? 

  JOHN: 

 Uh-huh (AFFIRM) 

  BRIAN ROSS: 

 Falling over?  Trying to-- 

  JOHN: 

 And you do things like you play music.  You talk 

to them.  You make them walk around so they-- 

they can't get comfortable. 

  BRIAN ROSS: 

 After Zubaydah was interrogated and really gave 

up all he knew, at least you-- all you thought he 

knew about the current operations, what was his 

value then? 

  JOHN: 

 His value was-- it allowed us to have somebody 

who we could pass ideas onto for his-- for his-- 

comments or analysis.  For example, we would say 

things like-- "Mr. X was arrested in some 

European capital.  And the Europeans think he was 

going to undertake such-and-such an operation.  
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Would he be the person to do something like 

that?" 

 

 And Abu Zubaydah would say something like, "Yes, 

he's the perfect person."  Or-- or, "Yes, he had 

a-- he had a specialty in bomb-making, let's say, 

or in weapons or in fake documents."  Or 

conversely, he would say, "No, that doesn't make 

any sense.  He didn't have any experience in that 

area.  Or you should be looking at this other 

person.  This other person had experience in that 

area."  So it was someone really to bounce ideas 

off of. 

  BRIAN ROSS: 

 He became a-- a resource in a sense in sort of 

like a-- a double check? 

  JOHN: 

 Yes. 

  BRIAN ROSS: 

 And you-- you used him a lot like that. 

  JOHN: 

 Yes, we did.  We used him a lot. 
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  BRIAN ROSS: 

 And at that point was he completely cooperative? 

  JOHN: 

 Completely cooperative. 

  BRIAN ROSS: 

 But still hating the United States. 

  JOHN: 

 Yes.  But like he said, it was nothing personal. 

(LAUGHTER) He's a Muslim and a Palestinian.  He's 

dedicated his life to the overthrow of-- of 

Israel, of the end of the existence of Israel.  

The United States is on the-- is on the side of 

Israel.  And it's nothing personal.  But there's 

a war on.  And he's on the other side. 

  BRIAN ROSS: 

 And what happened to him?  The initial 

interrogation was done in Pakistan? 

  JOHN: 

 No.  He was-- he was in such terrible physical 

condition in Pakistan that aside from a one- or 

two-minute conversation that we would have every 

four or five hours, which was really about 
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nothing-- he-- he was-- interviewed in-- in the-- 

the third country that he moved onto from there. 

  BRIAN ROSS: 

 And how long-- 

  (OFF-MIC CONVERSATION) 

  * * *END OF SIDE A* * * 

  * * *SIDE B BLANK* * * 

  * * *END OF TRANSRIPT* * * 
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Judgment 
In the proceeding publicly held at the Specialized Penal Court on Monday, 28 Muharram 1427 

[Hijri], 27 FEB 2006; 

Presiding Judge: Najeeb Mohammed Saleh Al-Qadiri     President of the Court 

Present:   Khalid Al-Mawri, Prosecutor General, and Himyar Qays, of the P.G. Office 

Also present:  Mahdi Mohammed Haydar Al-Dhubaibi    Proceeding Secretary 

I have issued Judgment No. 1/A of the year 1427 [Hijri] 

in the Penal Case No. 3 of the year 1427 [Hijri] 

Filed by the Office of Prosecutor General 

Against 

1. …; 

2. Mohamed Farag Bashmilah (a.k.a. Julaybeeb Al-Adani); 37 years old; self-employed; residing 

at Qaf/Meem Street, Makalla, Aden; imprisoned; 

3. Salah Naser Salem Ali Qaroo (a.k.a. Marwan Al-Adani); 28 years old; resident of Al-Buraiqa, 

Aden; imprisoned; 

Regarding the factual matters alleged against them in the Decision to Charge, quoted below: 

“The Office of Prosecutor General charges the named defendants as follows: 

I. … 

II. The second defendant: Used a forged document of a foreign country, namely an identification 

card as an Indonesian named Mohamed Farag Ahmed, with which he married an Indonesian 

woman, knowing that it was forged, as shown in detail in the papers. 

III. The third defendant: Used two forged official documents, namely two passport, one Iraqi and 

the other Yemeni, the first being in the name of Sa`eed Ahmed Ra’fat, with which he traveled 

from Iran to Malysia; and the second being in the name of Waddah Naser Salem Ali, with which 
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he traveled from Malaysia to Indonesia; while knowing they were forged; as shown in detail in 

the papers…. 

Trial Procedures 

…. 

The second defendant was then asked: What do you have to say regarding the matters alleged 

against you? He replied: 

“I have admitted obtaining the card, and I have received my penalty in Indonesia in an 

Indonesian prison. They released me upon paying a monetary fine with the intervention of the 

Yemeni Embassy. I spent a month and a half in prison, and then I left, through the Yemeni 

Embassy, to Yemen. I was not tried for that incident, but rather paid a fine and was deported to 

Yemen via Jordan. I was accompanied by my wife and mother. I was arrested in Jordan without 

legal justification, as I was bearing the Yemeni passport in the name of Mohamed Farag 

Bashmilah. After being tortured, I was handed over to the United States [where I remained] for 

one year and seven months in secret prisons that we do not know, in very bad conditions. 

Afterwards, we were handed over to Yemen on 5/5/2005, as none of the prior charges of which 

we were accused could be proven, which are different from the charges against us in the 

Decision to Charge. We remained in prison for no reason other than a suspicion, and now we are 

in Yemeni prisons since 5/5/2005, without trial. The Yemeni authorities have declared that we 

had committed no violations, but they said that we were in prison by a request from the U.S. 

embassy in Yemen. I read this in the press. I ask the court to release me on bail as soon as 

possible, in addition to referring me to a specialized physician, and improving our conditions in 

prison in terms of food.” 

The third defendant was then asked regarding the matters ascribed to him. He replied, “Yes, I 

bear the forged Yemeni passport.” 

In the proceedings, Mr. Mohammed Abdulraqeeb Al-Saqqaf was assigned to argue in their 

defense. 

The third defendant, Salah, continued saying, “I obtained the Yemeni passport in the name of 

Waddah for the purpose of coming to Yemen. I was arrested in Indonesia and spent three weeks 
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in prison in Indonesia. Then, I got a ticket to Yemen via Jordan. I was arrested in Jordan, and 

was told that this was due to some suspicion. There, I was subjected to all kinds of torture. After 

some time, they transferred us to the Americans at night. For one year and nine months, I did not 

know where [I was]. They said we were in Guantanamo, while we were not there. We could not 

see the sun or hear anything other than non-stop Western music. We suffered psychological 

torture, sleep deprivation, and food deprivation. With regards to the Iraqi passport, I had nothing 

to do with the forgery, as it was handed to me by the Iranian authorities. I have been imprisoned 

here for nine months. We demand release on parole.” 

With regards to the passport in his brother’s name, he replied, “Yes, I use it.” … 

Grounds for Sentencing 

.... 

…. Based on all the above, it is determined that … the second defendant knowingly and 

willingly committed the act of using a forged document; and that the third defendant knowingly 

and willingly committed the two acts of using the two forged documents. This being the case, 

they must be convicted of the acts alleged against them, pursuant to the provisions of Article 321 

of the Law of Penal Procedures. … 

Sentence 

I. To consider the time that the first convict …, the second convict Mohamed Farag Ahmed 

Bashmilah, and the third convict Salah Naser Salem Qaroo, spent in prison sufficient. 

II. To count the time of imprisonment that the convicts endured outside the country as part of 

their determined sentence. 

This is what I have stated and ruled. God is my satisfaction. He is the best of advocates. This was 

issued in court on Monday, 28 Muharram 1427 [Hijri], 27 February 2006. 

Secretary          President of the Specialized Penal Court 
[signature]              [signature] 

Mahdi Mohammed Haydar Al-Dhubaibi    Najeeb Mohammed Saleh Al-Qadiri 

[ink seal]       [ink seal] 
Specialized Penal Court     Republic of Yemen 
Copy True to the Original     Ministry of Justice 
           Specialized Penal Court 
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 الجمهورية اليمنية
 وزارة العدل

المحكمة الجزائية 
 المتخصصة

 بسم االله الرحمن الرحيم
  هـ1427لسـنة ) أ/1(حكم رقم 

 

 

 
 ]توقيع[

[signature] 
 ]ختم[

 المحكمة الجزائية المتخصصة
 صورة طبق الأصل

 ]ختم[
 الجمهورية اليمنية
 وزارة العدل

المحكمة الجزائية 
 المتخصصة

 ]توقيع[

 

 حكم
 من شهر 28بالجلسة المنعقدة علناً بالمحكمة الجزائية المتخصصة في يوم الاثنين 

 م27/2/2006هـ الموافق 1427محرم 
رئيس       نجيب محمد صالح القادري    /برئاسة القاضي 

 المحكمة
عضو    خالد الماوري وآيل النيابة وحمير قيس   /وبحضور الأسـتاذ 

 النيابة العامة
أمين سر      مهدي محمد حيدر الضبـيبي      /وبحضور 

 الجلسة
 هـ1427لسـنة ) أ/1(أصدرنا الحكم رقم 

 هـ1427سـنة ) 3(في القضية الجزائية رقم 
 المرفوعة من النيابة العامة

 ضد
1. ... 
 سـنة، أعمال حرة، مقيم عدن، المكلا شارع 37، )جليبيب العدني(محمد فرج أحمد باشميلة  .2
  محبوس–م /ق
  سـنة، مقيم عدن، البريقة، محبوس28) مروان العدني(صلاح ناصر سالم علي قرو  .3

تتهم النيابة العامة المتهمين المذآورين : بشأن الوقائع المنسوبة إليهم في قرار الاتهام التالي نصه
 لأنهم
  ...-:  المتهم الأول:أولاً 
ولة أجنبـية هي بطاقة إثبات الشخصية  اسـتعمل محرر مزور متعلق بد-: المتهم الثاني: ثانياً

محمد فرج أحمد، وتزوج من امرأة إندونيسـية بتلك البطاقة مع / على أنه إندونيسي، واسمه 
 .علمه بتزويرها، وعلى النحو المبـيَّن تفصيلاً في الأوراق

، جوازي سفر عراقي ويمني:  اسـتعمل محررين رسميـين مزورين هما– المتهم الثالث -: ثالثاً
 سعيد/ الأول باسم 
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وضاح ناصر سالم علي وسافر به / أحمد رأفت وسافر به من إيران إلى ماليزيا، والثاني باسم 
 ....من ماليزيا إلى إندونيسـيا مع علمه أنها مزورة، وعلى النحو المبـيَّن تفصيلاً في الأوراق

 إجراءات المحاآمة
.... 

أنا معترف فيما يتعلق باسـتخراجي : ب إليك؟ فأجابما قولك فيما نسـ: وثم سـئل المتهم الثاني
للبطاقة وقد أخذت جزائي في أندنوسـيا أمام السـجن الأندنوسي وأفرجوا عني بغرامة مالية 

ة شهر ونصف ثم رحلت عن طريق السفارة دوبواسطة السفارة اليمنية واسـتمريت في الحبس لم
وإنما دفعت غرامة وترحلت إلى اليمن عن طريق آم على تلك الواقعة االيمنية إلى اليمن، ولم أح

 أي مسوغ قانوني ن القبض عليا في الأردن بدوءالأردن وآان برفقتي زوجتي ووالدتي وتم إلقا
حيث أني أحمل الجواز اليمني باسم محمد فرج باشميلة وتم تسليمي بعد تعذيبي في الأردن إلى 

 ذلك تم دنعلمها وأوضاع سـيئة جداً، بعأمريكا لمدة سـنة وسـبعة أشهر في سجون سرية لا 
نا حول ما نسب إلينا من تهم دم لعدم ثبوت أي أدلة ض5/5/2005ريخ اتسليمنا إلى اليمن في ت

 الاشـتباه ونحن الآن في دسابقة غير تلك المنسوبة إلنا في قرار الاتهام وظلينا في السجون لمجر
اليمنية الأمنية بأنه لا ت الأجهزة م من دون محاآمة وقد صرح5/5/2005جون اليمن من س

يوجد علينا أي مخالفات ولكن قالوا بأن بقاءنا في السجن بناء على طلب السفارة الأمريكية في 
اليمن وقرأت هذا في الصحافة وأطلب من المحكمة الإفراج عني بضمانة مالية بأسرع وقت 

سجن من ناحية ممكن إضافة إلى إحالتي إلى طبيب مختص للعلاج وتحسـين أحوالنا داخل ال
 .الطعام

 .نعم أني أحمل الجواز اليمني المزور: ثم سـئل المتهم الثالث عما نسب إليه فأجاب

 .محمد عبد الرقيب السقاف للترافع والدفاع عنهم/ وفي الجلسات قررت المحكمة ندب الأسـتاذ 

ء لليمن ت الجواز اليمني باسم وضاح لغرض المجيذ أخثم واصل المتهم الثالث صلاح قائلاً
وسـيا وجلست ثلاثة أسابـيع في أندنوسـيا محبوس ثم أخذت تذآرة إلى اليمن نض عليا في أندبوق

 وعن طريق الأردن قبضوا

عليا في الأردن، وقالوا أنه اشـتباه وهناك تعرضت لأنواع التعذيب وبعد فترة في الليل سلمونا 
لوا أن أحنا في جوانتناموا ونحن  وهم يقوأينللأمريكان وحوالي سـنة وتسعة أشهر لا أدري 
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لسنا هناك ولا نرى الشمس ولا نسمع أي شيء إلا الموسـيقى الغربـية واصل وعندنا سماعة 
الطعام، أما فيما يتعلق بالجواز العراقي فقد من وعندنا التعذيب النفسي والسهر والحرمان 

خل في دى ماليزيا وليس لي أعطتـنا هذه الجوازات السلطات الإيرانية سافرنا به من إيران إل
طات الإيرانية ولي هنا تسعة أشهر في السجن ونطالب لا من السيعملية التزوير ولكن سلم إل

 .بالإفراج عني بضمان
 ....لهموأجاب فيما يتعلق بالجواز الذي باسم أخيه نعم أسـتع

... 
 حيثيات الحكم

... 
 ارتكب واقعة اسـتعمال محرر مزور عن المتهم الثاني...  ما تقدم أن آلّوحيث يتبين من ... 

ة، د ارتكب واقعتي اسـتعمال المحررين مزورين عن علم وإراعلم وإرادة وأنّ المتهم الثالث
 من قانون )321(الأمر الذي يقتضي معه إدانتهم بالوقائع الثابتة نسـبتها إليهم إعمالاً لحكم المادة 

 ...الإجراءات الجزائية
 المنطوق

في الحبس، والمدانين الثاني محمد فرج أحمد ... اء بالمدة التي قضاها المدان الأول الاآتف: أولاً
 باشميلة والثالث صلاح ناصر سالم علي قرو؛

 .احتساب مدة الحبس التي قضاها المدانين خارج البلاد من العقوبة المقررة عليهم: ثانياً
 28بقاعة المحكمة في يوم الاثنين صدر . هذا ما توجه لدي وبه حكمت واالله حسـبي ونعم الوآيل

 .م2006 فبراير 27هـ الموافق 1427محرم 
 

رئيس المحكمة الجزائية              أمين السر
 المتخصصة

 ]توقيع/ [القاضي              ]توقيع[
 نجيب محمد صالح القادري          مهدي محمد حيدر الضبـيبي

 ]ختم[             ]ختم[
 الجمهورية اليمنية         المتخصصةالمحكمة الجزائية

 وزارة العدل          صورة طبق الأصل
 المحكمة الجزائية المتخصصة              
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Wrongful Imprisonment: 
Anatomy of a CIA Mistake 
German Citizen Released After Months in 'Rendition' 

By Dana Priest 
Washington Post Staff Writer 
Sunday, December 4, 2005; A01 

In May 2004, the White House dispatched the U.S. 
ambassador in Germany to pay an unusual visit to that 
country's interior minister. Ambassador Daniel R. 
Coats carried instructions from the State Department 
transmitted via the CIA's Berlin station because they 
were too sensitive and highly classified for regular 
diplomatic channels, according to several people with 
knowledge of the conversation. 

Coats informed the German minister that the CIA had wrongfully imprisoned one of its citizens, Khaled 
Masri, for five months, and would soon release him, the sources said. There was also a request: that the 
German government not disclose what it had been told even if Masri went public. The U.S. officials 
feared exposure of a covert action program designed to capture terrorism suspects abroad and transfer 
them among countries, and possible legal challenges to the CIA from Masri and others with similar 
allegations. 

The Masri case, with new details gleaned from interviews with current and former intelligence and 
diplomatic officials, offers a rare study of how pressure on the CIA to apprehend al Qaeda members 
after the Sept. 11, 2001, attacks has led in some instances to detention based on thin or speculative 
evidence. The case also shows how complicated it can be to correct errors in a system built and operated 
in secret. 

The CIA, working with other intelligence agencies, has captured an estimated 3,000 people, including 
several key leaders of al Qaeda, in its campaign to dismantle terrorist networks. It is impossible to 
know, however, how many mistakes the CIA and its foreign partners have made. 

Unlike the military's prison for terrorist suspects at Guantanamo Bay, Cuba -- where 180 prisoners have 
been freed after a review of their cases -- there is no tribunal or judge to check the evidence against 
those picked up by the CIA. The same bureaucracy that decides to capture and transfer a suspect for 
interrogation-- a process called "rendition" -- is also responsible for policing itself for errors. 

The CIA inspector general is investigating a growing number of what it calls "erroneous renditions," 
according to several former and current intelligence officials. 

One official said about three dozen names fall in that category; others believe it is fewer. The list 
includes several people whose identities were offered by al Qaeda figures during CIA interrogations, 
officials said. One turned out to be an innocent college professor who had given the al Qaeda member a 
bad grade, one official said. 

"They picked up the wrong people, who had no information. In many, many cases there was only some 
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vague association" with terrorism, one CIA officer said. 

While the CIA admitted to Germany's then-Interior Minister Otto Schily that it had made a mistake, it 
has labored to keep the specifics of Masri's case from becoming public. As a German prosecutor works 
to verify or debunk Masri's claims of kidnapping and torture, the part of the German government that 
was informed of his ordeal has remained publicly silent. Masri's attorneys say they intend to file a 
lawsuit in U.S. courts this week. 

Masri was held for five months largely because the head of the CIA's Counterterrorist Center's al Qaeda 
unit "believed he was someone else," one former CIA official said. "She didn't really know. She just had 
a hunch." 

The CIA declined to comment for this article, as did Coats and a spokesman at the German Embassy in 
Washington. Schily did not respond to several requests for comment last week. 

CIA officials stress that apprehensions and renditions are among the most sure-fire ways to take 
potential terrorists out of circulation quickly. In 2000, then-CIA Director George J. Tenet said that 
"renditions have shattered terrorist cells and networks, thwarted terrorist plans, and in some cases even 
prevented attacks from occurring."

 

The Counterterrorist Center 

After the September 2001 attacks, pressure to locate and nab potential terrorists, even in the most 
obscure parts of the world, bore down hard on one CIA office in particular, the Counterterrorist Center, 
or CTC, located until recently in the basement of one of the older buildings on the agency's sprawling 
headquarters compound. With operations officers and analysts sitting side by side, the idea was to act on 
tips and leads with dramatic speed. 

The possibility of missing another attack loomed large. "Their logic was: If one of them gets loose and 
someone dies, we'll be held responsible," said one CIA officer, who, like others interviewed for this 
article, would speak only anonymously because of the secretive nature of the subject. 

To carry out its mission, the CTC relies on its Rendition Group, made up of case officers, paramilitaries, 
analysts and psychologists. Their job is to figure out how to snatch someone off a city street, or a remote 
hillside, or a secluded corner of an airport where local authorities wait. 

Members of the Rendition Group follow a simple but standard procedure: Dressed head to toe in black, 
including masks, they blindfold and cut the clothes off their new captives, then administer an enema and 
sleeping drugs. They outfit detainees in a diaper and jumpsuit for what can be a day-long trip. Their 
destinations: either a detention facility operated by cooperative countries in the Middle East and Central 
Asia, including Afghanistan, or one of the CIA's own covert prisons -- referred to in classified 
documents as "black sites," which at various times have been operated in eight countries, including 
several in Eastern Europe. 

In the months after the Sept. 11 attacks, the CTC was the place to be for CIA officers wanting in on the 
fight. The staff ballooned from 300 to 1,200 nearly overnight. 

"It was the Camelot of counterterrorism," a former counterterrorism official said. "We didn't have to 
mess with others --

 

and it was fun."
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Thousands of tips and allegations about potential threats poured in after the attacks. Stung by the failure 
to detect the plot, CIA officers passed along every tidbit. The process of vetting and evaluating 
information suffered greatly, former and current intelligence officials said. "Whatever quality control 
mechanisms were in play on September 10th were eliminated on September 11th," a former senior 
intelligence official said. 

J. Cofer Black, a professorial former spy who spent years chasing Osama bin Laden, was the CTC's 
director. With a flair for melodrama, Black had earned special access to the White House after he 
briefed President Bush on the CIA's war plan for Afghanistan. 

Colleagues recall that he would return from the White House inspired and talking in missionary terms. 
Black, now in the private security business, declined to comment. 

Some colleagues said his fervor was in line with the responsibility Bush bestowed on the CIA when he 
signed a top secret presidential finding six days after the 9/11 attacks. It authorized an unprecedented 
range of covert action, including lethal measures and renditions, disinformation campaigns and cyber 
attacks against the al Qaeda enemy, according to current and former intelligence officials. Black's 
attitude was exactly what some CIA officers believed was needed to get the job done. 

Others criticized Black's CTC for embracing a "Hollywood model" of operations, as one former 
longtime CIA veteran called it, eschewing the hard work of recruiting agents and penetrating terrorist 
networks. Instead, the new approach was similar to the flashier paramilitary operations that had worked 
so well in Afghanistan, and played well at the White House, where the president was keeping a 
scorecard of captured or killed terrorists. 

The person most often in the middle of arguments over whether to dispatch a rendition team was a 
former Soviet analyst with spiked hair that matched her in-your-face personality who heads the CTC's al 
Qaeda unit, according to a half-dozen CIA veterans who know her. Her name is being withheld because 
she is under cover. 

She earned a reputation for being aggressive and confident, just the right quality, some colleagues 
thought, for a commander in the CIA's global war on terrorism. Others criticized her for being 
overzealous and too quick to order paramilitary action. 

The CIA and Guantanamo Bay 

One way the CIA has dealt with detainees it no longer wants to hold is to transfer them to the custody of 
the U.S. military at Guantanamo Bay, where defense authorities decide whether to keep or release them 
after a review. 

About a dozen men have been transferred by the CIA to Guantanamo Bay, according to a Washington 
Post review of military tribunal testimony and other records. Some CIA officials have argued that the 
facility has become, as one former senior official put it, "a dumping ground" for CIA mistakes. 

But several former intelligence officials dispute that and defend the transfer of CIA detainees to military 
custody. They acknowledged that some of those sent to Guantanamo Bay are prisoners who, after 
interrogation and review, turned out to have less valuable information than originally suspected. Still, 
they said, such prisoners are dangerous and would attack if given the chance. 

Among those released from Guantanamo is Mamdouh Habib, an Egyptian-born Australian citizen, 
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apprehended by a CIA team in Pakistan in October 2001, then sent to Egypt for interrogation, according 
to court papers. He has alleged that he was burned by cigarettes, given electric shocks and beaten by 
Egyptian captors. After six months, he was flown to Guantanamo Bay and let go earlier this year 
without being charged. 

Another CIA former captive, according to declassified testimony from military tribunals and other 
records, is Mohamedou Oulad Slahi, a Mauritanian and former Canada resident, who says he turned 
himself in to the Mauritanian police 18 days after the 9/11 attacks because he heard the Americans were 
looking for him. The CIA took him to Jordan, where he spent eight months undergoing interrogation, 
according to his testimony, before being taken to Guantanamo Bay. 

Another is Muhammad Saad Iqbal Madni, an Egyptian imprisoned by Indonesia authorities in January 
2002 after he was heard talking -- he says jokingly -- about a new shoe bomb technology. He was flown 
to Egypt for interrogation and returned to CIA hands four months later, according to one former 
intelligence official. After being held for 13 months in Afghanistan, he was taken to Guantanamo Bay, 
according to his testimony. 

The Masri Case 

Khaled Masri came to the attention of Macedonian authorities on New Year's Eve 2003. Masri, an 
unemployed father of five living in Ulm, Germany, said he had gone by bus to Macedonia to blow off 
steam after a spat with his wife. He was taken off a bus at the Tabanovce border crossing by police 
because his name was similar to that of an associate of a 9/11 hijacker. The police drove him to Skopje, 
the capital, and put him in a motel room with darkened windows, he said in a recent telephone interview 
from Germany. 

The police treated Masri firmly but cordially, asking about his passport, which they insisted was forged, 
about al Qaeda and about his hometown mosque, he said. When he pressed them to let him go, they 
displayed their pistols. 

Unbeknown to Masri, the Macedonians had contacted the CIA station in Skopje. The station chief was 
on holiday. But the deputy chief, a junior officer, was excited about the catch and about being able to 
contribute to the counterterrorism fight, current and former intelligence officials familiar with the case 
said. 

"The Skopje station really wanted a scalp because everyone wanted a part of the game," a CIA officer 
said. Because the European Division chief at headquarters was also on vacation, the deputy dealt 
directly with the CTC and the head of its al Qaeda unit. 

In the first weeks of 2004, an argument arose over whether the CIA should take Masri from local 
authorities and remove him from the country for interrogation, a classic rendition operation. 

The director of the al Qaeda unit supported that approach. She insisted he was probably a terrorist, and 
should be imprisoned and interrogated immediately. 

Others were doubtful. They wanted to wait to see whether the passport was proved fraudulent. Beyond 
that, there was no evidence Masri was not who he claimed to be -- a German citizen of Arab descent 
traveling after a disagreement with his wife. 

The unit's director won the argument. She ordered Masri captured and flown to a CIA prison in 
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Afghanistan. 

On the 23rd day of his motel captivity, the police videotaped Masri, then bundled him, handcuffed and 
blindfolded, into a van and drove to a closed-off building at the airport, Masri said. There, in silence, 
someone cut off his clothes. As they changed his blindfold, "I saw seven or eight men with black 
clothing and wearing masks," he later said in an interview. He said he was drugged to sleep for a long 
plane ride.

 

Afghanistan 

Masri said his cell in Afghanistan was cold, dirty and in a cellar, with no light and one dirty cover for 
warmth. The first night he said he was kicked and beaten and warned by an interrogator: "You are here 
in a country where no one knows about you, in a country where there is no law. If you die, we will bury 
you, and no one will know." 

Masri was guarded during the day by Afghans, he said. At night, men who sounded as if they spoke 
American-accented English showed up for the interrogation. Sometimes a man he believed was a doctor 
in a mask came to take photos, draw blood and collect a urine sample. 

Back at the CTC, Masri's passport was given to the Office of Technical Services to analyze. By March, 
OTS had concluded the passport was genuine. The CIA had imprisoned the wrong man. 

At the CIA, the question was: Now what? Some officials wanted to go directly to the German 
government; others did not. Someone suggested a reverse rendition: Return Masri to Macedonia and 
release him. "There wouldn't be a trace. No airplane tickets. Nothing. No one would believe him," one 
former official said. "There would be a bump in the press, but then it would be over." 

Once the mistake reached Tenet, he laid out the options to his counterparts, including the idea of not 
telling the Germans. Condoleezza Rice, then Bush's national security adviser, and Deputy Secretary of 
State Richard L. Armitage argued they had to be told, a position Tenet took, according to one former 
intelligence official. 

"You couldn't have the president lying to the German chancellor" should the issue come up, a 
government official involved in the matter said. 

Senior State Department officials decided to approach Interior Minister Schily, who had been a steadfast 
Bush supporter even when differences over the Iraq war strained ties between the two countries. 
Ambassador Coats had excellent rapport with Schily. 

The CIA argued for minimal disclosure of information. The State Department insisted on a truthful, 
complete statement. The two agencies quibbled over whether it should include an apology, according to 
officials. 

Meanwhile, Masri was growing desperate. There were rumors that a prisoner had died under torture. 
Masri could not answer most questions put to him. He said he steadied himself by talking with other 
prisoners and reading the Koran.

 

A week before his release in late May 2004, Masri said he was visited in prison by a German man with a 
goatee who called himself Sam. Masri said he asked him if he were from the German government and 
whether the government knew he was there. Sam said he could not answer either question.
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"Does my wife at least know I'm here?" Masri asked. 

"No, she does not," Sam replied, according to Masri. 

Sam told Masri he was going to be released soon but that he would not receive any documents or papers 
confirming his ordeal. The Americans would never admit they had taken him prisoner, Sam added, 
according to Masri. 

On the day of his release, the prison's director, who Masri believed was an American, told Masri that he 
had been held because he "had a suspicious name," Masri said in an interview. 

Several intelligence and diplomatic officials said Macedonia did not want the CIA to bring Masri back 
inside the country, so the agency arranged for him to be flown to Albania. Masri said he was taken to a 
narrow country road at dusk. When they let him off, "They asked me not to look back when I started 
walking," Masri said. "I was afraid they would shoot me in the back." 

He said he was quickly met by three armed men. They drove all night, arriving in the morning at Mother 
Teresa Airport in Tirana. Masri said he was escorted onto the plane, past all the security checkpoints, by 
an Albanian. 

Masri has been reunited with his children and wife, who had moved the family to Lebanon because she 
did not know where her husband was. Unemployed and lonely, Masri says neither his German nor Arab 
friends dare associate with him because of the publicity. 

Meanwhile, a German prosecutor continues to work Masri's case. A Macedonia bus driver has 
confirmed that Masri was taken away by border guards on the date he gave investigators. A forensic 
analysis of Masri's hair showed he was malnourished during the period he says he was in the prison. 
Flight logs show a plane registered to a CIA front company flew out of Macedonia on the day Masri 
says he went to Afghanistan. 

Masri can find few words to explain his ordeal. "I have very bad feelings" about the United States, he 
said. "I think it's just like in the Arab countries: arresting people, treating them inhumanly and less than 
that, and with no rights and no laws." 

Staff researcher Julie Tate contributed to this article. 
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CIA watchdog looks into ‘erroneous renditions’  
Inspector general investigates cases of people mistaken as terror suspects 
The Associated Press 
updated 5:29 p.m. ET, Tues., Dec. 27, 2005 

WASHINGTON - The CIA’s independent watchdog is investigating fewer than 10 cases where terrorist suspects 
may have been mistakenly swept away to foreign countries by the spy agency, a figure lower than published 
reports but enough to raise some concerns. 

After the attacks of Sept. 11, 2001, President Bush gave the CIA authority to conduct the now-controversial 
operations, called “renditions,” and permitted the agency to act without case-by-case approval from the White 
House or other administration offices. 

The highly classified practice involves grabbing suspects off the street of one country and flying them to their 
home country or another where they are wanted for a crime or questioning. 

Some 100 to 150 people have been snatched up since 9/11. Government officials say the action is reserved 
for those considered by the CIA to be the most serious terrorist suspects. 

Bush has said that these transfers to other countries — with assurances the terrorist suspects won’t be 
tortured — are a way to protect the United States and its allies from attack. “That was the charge we have 
been given,” he said in March. 

But some operations are being questioned. 

The CIA’s inspector general, John Helgerson, is looking into fewer than 10 cases of potentially “erroneous 
renditions,” according to a current intelligence official who spoke on condition of anonymity because the 
investigations are classified. Others in the agency believe it to be much fewer, the official added. 

Some see judicial evasion 
For instance, someone may be grabbed wrongly or, after further investigation, may not be as directly linked 
to terrorism as initially believed. 

Human rights groups consider the practice of rendition an end run around the judicial processes that the 
United States has long championed. Experts with those groups and congressional committees familiar with 
intelligence programs say errors should be extremely rare because one vivid anecdote can do significant 
damage. 

“I am glad the CIA is investigating the cases that they are aware of,” said Tom Malinowski, Washington office 
director of Human Rights Watch. “But by definition, you are not going to be aware of all such cases, when you 
have a process designed to avoid judicial safeguards.” 

He said there is no guarantee that Egypt, Uzbekistan or Syria will release people handed over to them if they 
turn out to be innocent, and he distrusts promises the U.S. receives that the individuals will not be tortured. 

Bush: ‘We don’t believe in torture’ 
Bush and his aides have said the United States seeks those assurances — and follows up on them. “We do 
believe in protecting ourselves. We don’t believe in torture,” he said. 

In the last 18 months, his administration has come under fire for its policies and regulations governing 
detentions and interrogations in the war on terrorism. At facilities run by the CIA and the U.S. military, 
graphic images of abuse and at least 26 deaths investigated as criminal homicides have raised questions 
about how authorities handle foreign fighters and terrorist suspects in U.S. custody. 
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Senior administration officials have sought to assure critics that that the cases are isolated instances among 
the more than 80,000 prisoners held since 9/11. Yet much remains unknown about the CIA’s highly classified 
detention and interrogation practices, particularly when it grabs foreigners and spirits them away to other 
countries. 

Agency is target of lawsuit 
With the help of the American Civil Liberties Union, Khaled al-Masri, a German citizen of Lebanese descent, 
has sued the CIA for arbitrarily detaining him and other alleged violations after he was captured in Macedonia 
in December 2003 and taken to Afghanistan by a team of covert operatives in an apparent case of mistaken 
identity. 

Speaking to reporters by video hookup from Germany this month, al-Masri said he was “dragged off the plane 
and thrown into the trunk of a car” and beaten by his captors in Afghanistan. Five months later, his complaint 
says, he was dropped off on a hill in Albania. 

Mamdouh Habib, an Egyptian-born Australian, was arrested near the Pakistani-Afghan border shortly after 
9/11 and flown to Cairo. He says for six months he was tortured there and was later transported to 
Afghanistan and Guantanamo Bay, Cuba. In 2005, he was released without charge and allowed to return to 
Sydney. 

Before 9/11, renditions were ordered to bring wanted criminals to justice. But the purpose was broadened 
after the attacks to get terrorists off the streets. 

Renditions represent just a fraction of the captures handled by the CIA and its allies. More than 3,000 
foreigners have been detained in operations involving the CIA and friendly intelligence services since 9/11, 
according to the intelligence official. Sometimes the United States may merely be providing information, 
training or equipment for the operations. 

Middle Eastern countries involved 
Countries including Jordan and Egypt are believed to cooperate with the operations. Although Saudi Arabia is 
thought to be involved, its ambassador to the United States has denied accepting any cases at the United 
States’ request. 

The spotlight on the issue has called attention to how the CIA does its work, causing consternation among 
some agency officials who prefer to operate in the shadows. 

For instance, planes operated by CIA front companies are often used to move the suspects from one country 
to another, bringing scrutiny to a secret agency fleet that’s traveled in the United States, Spain, Germany, 
Afghanistan, Poland, Romania and elsewhere. 

Intelligence officials said the planes are more likely to be carrying staff, supplies or Director Porter Goss on his 
way to a foreign visit. 

© 2008 The Associated Press. All rights reserved. This material may not be published, broadcast, rewritten or 
redistributed. 
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